

MEDICARE HEALTH OUTCOMES SURVEY (HOS)

Understanding the Health Needs of Hispanic Medicare Beneficiaries

NOVEMBER 26, 2018

PRESENTED TO:

Kimberly DeMichele Contracting Officer's Representative, CM/CMS

Shondelle Wilson-Frederick OMH/CMS

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services 7500 Security Boulevard Baltimore, MD 21244

PRESENTED BY:

Health Services Advisory Group 3133 East Camelback Road Phoenix, AZ 85016

Suggested Citation

CMS Office of Minority Health and HSAG. Understanding the Health Needs of Diverse Groups of Hispanic Medicare Beneficiaries. Baltimore, MD. 2018.

Copyright information

This communication was produced, published, and disseminated at U.S. taxpayer expense. All material appearing in this report is in the public domain and maybe reproduced or copied without permission; citation as to source, however, is appreciated.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	.1
Introduction	.2
Population	. 2
Economics and Education	. 2
Factors with Potential to Influence Health	. 3
Health and Healthcare	. 3
Methods	5
Survey and Sample	. 5
Limitations and Sample Recommendations	. 6
Results	.7
Demographics	. 7
Physical and Mental Component Summary Scores	. 8
General Health and Comparative Health	. 9
Depression	10
Pain	11
Chronic Medical Conditions	12
Activities of Daily Living	13
Healthy Days Measures	15
Body Mass Index	16
Sleep Measures	17
NCQA HEDIS Measures	18
Conclusions	20
Appendix Tables	21
Health Status by Gender	21
References	39

List of Tables

Table 1: Hispanic beneficiary demographics	7
Table 2: Mean unadjusted PCS and MCS scores among Hispanics	
Table 3: Self-rated general and comparative health status among Hispanics	
Table 4: Frequency of positive depression screen responses among Hispanics	
Table 5: Extent pain interfered with daily activities and socializing among Hispanics	12
Table 6: Number of most prevalent chronic conditions among Hispanics	13
Table 7: Impairments in Activities of Daily Living (ADL) among Hispanics	14
Table 8: Impairments in Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) among Hispanics	
Table 9: Distributions of healthy days measures among Hispanics	
Table 10: Distribution of BMI categories among Hispanics	17
Table 11: Distributions of sleep duration and quality among Hispanics, HOS Baseline Cohort 18	18
Table 12: Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) estimates among a	
diverse group of Hispanics	19
Table 13: Physical Component Summary (PCS) score and the Mental Component Summary	
(MCS) score (unadjusted) for Hispanic groups by gender	22
Table 14: Self-rated general health for Hispanic groups by gender	23
Table 15: Physical health compared to one year ago for Hispanic groups by gender	24
Table 16: Mental health compared to one year ago for Hispanic groups by gender	25
Table 17: Pain interfering with daily activities for Hispanic groups by gender	
Table 18: Positive depression screen for Hispanic groups by gender	27
Table 19: Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless in past two weeks (depression screen) for	
Hispanic groups by gender	28
Table 20: Little interest or pleasure in doing things in past two weeks (depression screen) for	
Hispanic groups by gender	29
Table 21: Pain interfering with socializing for Hispanic groups by gender	30
Table 22: Top seven chronic conditions for Hispanic groups by gender	31
Table 23: Number of chronic conditions for Hispanic groups by gender	32
Table 24: Days with activity limitations during the past 30 days for Hispanic groups by gender	33
Table 25: Physically unhealthy days during the past 30 days for Hispanic groups by gender	34
Table 26: Mentally unhealthy days during the past 30 days for Hispanic groups by gender	35
Table 27: BMI categories for Hispanic groups by gender	36
Table 28: Sleep hours for Hispanic groups by gender, HOS Baseline Cohort 18	37
Table 29: Sleep quality for Hispanic groups by gender, HOS Baseline Cohort 18	38

Executive Summary

The ability to analyze health data for detailed racial and ethnic groups is fundamental to identify the underlying factors that contribute to disparities and to develop appropriate strategies to eliminate them, especially among the Medicare beneficiaries. As the population of Medicare beneficiaries becomes more diverse, this information becomes more critical, especially for the Hispanic population. Hispanics constituted 17.8 percent (57.5 million) of the nation's population in 2016, making people of Hispanic origin the nation's largest ethnic or racial minority.¹ From 2000-2010, the Hispanic population grew by 43 percent and is expected to make up 28.6 percent of the total population in 2060.^{2, 3}

In 2016, among the groups of Hispanics in the U.S., Mexicans (63.2 percent) were the largest group, followed by Puerto Ricans, Salvadorans, and Cubans. Additionally, majority of Hispanics reside in California (15.3 million), Texas (10.9 million), and Florida (5.1 million).¹ In general, the median age of the 2016 U.S. Hispanic population was 29 years compared to 40.4 years for the non-Hispanic population, and nearly 8 percent of the Hispanic population was 65 years and older compared to 19.3 percent of the non-Hispanic population.¹

Therefore, in an effort to have a better understanding of the health needs of this diverse population, this report examines the health needs of the Hispanic Medicare beneficiaries by using the Medicare Health Outcomes Survey (HOS). Since 2013, the Medicare HOS has been reporting disaggregated results for Hispanic beneficiaries who self-identified as Cuban, Puerto Rican, Mexican, Other Hispanic, or Multi-ethnic. The HOS collects sufficient data to analyze the health status of Hispanic Medicare Part C and D beneficiaries by these distinct groups.

In general, one-half of Hispanics (50.2 percent) reported "Fair" or "Poor" health with significant differences reported across groups, ranging from 42.5 percent for Cubans to 55.8 percent for Puerto Ricans. Experiencing pain with daily activities from "Quite a bit" or "Very much" ranged from 24.3 percent of Cubans to 33.4 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics, and pain interfering with socializing reported as "Often" or "Always" ranged from 17.8 percent of Cubans to 27.8 percent of Puerto Ricans. More than half of Hispanics (68.4 percent) had been diagnosed with hypertension and a quarter (25.4) reported having osteoporosis. Two or more chronic conditions were reported by more than three quarters of beneficiaries in each Hispanic group, ranging from 78.4 percent of Other Hispanics to 83.3 percent of Puerto Ricans. Additionally, the prevalence of obesity among Hispanics was 35.3 percent. Rates of obesity for Hispanic groups varied significantly from 31.0 percent for Cubans to 39.8 percent for Mexicans.

The findings presented in this report demonstrate that stratifying health data for detailed Hispanic groups reveals unique and significant differences otherwise masked by aggregate analyses. The significant differences in health status across the many measures emphasize the importance of collecting demographic data at the granularity level for ethnicity, sex, primary language, and disability status in population health surveys. This added level of detail enhances the ability of public health professionals to identify and monitor the health and health care status of diverse population groups.

Introduction

Population

The Hispanic population of the United States constituted 17.8 percent (57.5 million) of the nation's total population in 2016, making people of Hispanic origin the nation's largest ethnic or racial minority.¹ From 2000-2010, the Hispanic population grew by 43 percent and is expected to make up 28.6 percent of the total population in 2060.^{2,3}

From a demographic perspective, among detailed groups of Hispanics in the U.S. in 2016, Mexicans (63.2 percent) were the largest group, followed by Puerto Ricans (9.5 percent), Salvadorans (3.8 percent), Cubans (3.9 percent), Dominicans (3.3 percent), and Guatemalans (2.5 percent).¹ A majority of Hispanics also self-identified as White (88.0 percent), followed by Black or African American (4.8 percent), American Indian and Alaska Native (2.9 percent), Asian (1.0 percent), or Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander (< 1.0 percent). The remainder of Hispanics self-identified as two or more races (3.0 percent).¹ The median age of the 2016 U.S. Hispanic population was 29 years compared to 40.4 years for the non-Hispanic population.¹ Nearly 8 percent (7.7 percent) of the Hispanic population was 65 years and older compared to 19.3 percent of the non-Hispanic population.¹

From a geographic perspective, in 2016, nine states had at least one million individuals selfidentifying as Hispanic, and half of counties in the U.S. had at least one thousand Hispanics. More than half (54.4 percent) of the U.S. Hispanic population resided in three states: California (15.3 million), Texas (10.9 million), and Florida (5.1 million).¹

Economics and Education

According to the 2016 Current Population Survey, median household income among Hispanics of any race in 2015 was \$45,719 (adjusted to 2016 dollars).⁴ This was significantly lower compared to Asian (\$78,141) and non-Hispanic White (\$63,745) households of any ethnicity, but significantly higher compared to Black (\$37,364) households of any ethnicity.⁴ Among Hispanics, 21.4 percent were living below the poverty threshold in 2015, compared to 9.1 percent of non-Hispanic Whites, 11.4 percent of Asians, and 24.1 percent of Blacks.⁵ The poverty rate was 17.8 percent for Hispanics age 18 to 64 years old and 17.5 percent for Hispanics age 65 years and older.⁵ According to the 2015 American Community Survey (ACS), the poverty rates varied across detailed Hispanic groups, with Cubans having the lowest rate (17.6 percent), followed by Other Hispanics (20.0 percent), Central Americans (22.2 percent), Mexicans (23.5 percent), Puerto Ricans (24.6 percent), and Dominicans (26.7 percent).⁶

Two-thirds (66 percent) of Hispanics reported obtaining at least a high school diploma or greater, and 14.8 percent of Hispanics obtained a bachelor's degree or higher.¹ Rates of high school graduation or higher ranged from 60.9 percent for Mexican respondents to 79.2 percent

for Cubans,^a and obtaining a bachelor's degree or higher ranged from 10.8 percent for Mexicans to 26.1 percent for Cubans.⁶

Health and Healthcare

In the U.S., persons with disabilities are disproportionately covered by Medicaid and, depending on whether they qualify for certain federal disability benefits, are eligible for Medicare before age 65. In 2015, the disability rate for Hispanics was 8.1 percent. For Mexican and Cuban respondents, rates were 7.5 percent and 8.2 percent respectively, and the disability rate for Puerto Ricans was 14.0 percent.⁶

Health care insurance coverage is instrumental to mitigate expenses related to healthcare needs. In 2015, 83.8 percent of Hispanics reported having health insurance coverage and 16.2 percent lacked coverage.⁷ Private health insurance coverage was reported by slightly more than half (51.6 percent) of Hispanics compared to 41.2 percent who reported federal health insurance coverage.⁷ Between 2014 and 2015, health insurance coverage rates increased for most racial and Hispanic groups, with the greatest increased observed for Hispanics (3.6 percentage points).⁷ According to the 2015 ACS, lack of health insurance varied among Hispanic groups with 8.5 percent of Puerto Ricans reporting no health insurance coverage, compared to 13.9 percent of Cubans and 21.5 percent of Mexicans.⁶

According to data from the 2014 National Vital Statistic Reporting System from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), cancer and heart disease (in that order) are the two leading causes of death for individuals who identified as Hispanic. This is somewhat similar to the non-Hispanic White and Black populations, who share the same two leading causes of death, but with heart disease first and cancer second. Unintentional injuries, stroke, diabetes, chronic liver disease and cirrhosis, Alzheimer's disease, chronic lower respiratory disease, influenza and pneumonia, kidney disease, cancer, and heart disease comprised the top ten leading causes of death for either non-Hispanic Whites or Blacks, except for chronic liver disease and cirrhosis, which was specific to Hispanics.⁸

The ability to analyze health data for detailed racial and ethnic groups is fundamental to identify the underlying factors that contribute to disparities and to develop appropriate strategies to eliminate them. However, limited national data resources are available that provide this information specifically for Medicare beneficiaries. As the population of Medicare beneficiaries becomes more diverse, this information becomes more critical. Consequently, databases such as the Medicare Health Outcomes Survey (HOS) provide valuable information on detailed Asian, Native Hawaiian, and Other Pacific Islanders as well as detailed Hispanic groups. Having access to reliable and specific health information made readily available through databases and national assessments like the HOS becomes beneficial in examining the health needs of diverse older populations.

^a Hispanic groups examined were Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Other Hispanic or Latino, Dominican, and Central American (excluding Mexican).

Factors with Potential to Influence Health

There are many factors that interact to affect an individual's health status, including length of time residing in the U.S. According to data from the 2015 ACS, 34.5 percent of Hispanics in the U.S. were foreign born and more than half (58.2 percent) had entered the U.S. before the year 2000. Similar estimates of time residing in the U.S. were observed across detailed Hispanic groups, including 61.2 percent of Mexicans and 57.1 of Cubans who had entered before 2000.⁶ The U.S. Hispanic population has lower mortality rates than non-Hispanic Whites despite lower socioeconomic status,⁹ especially for new Hispanic immigrants.¹⁰ However, some research has shown increased risks for disability and chronic disease morbidity, and lower self-reported health status among Hispanic immigrants the longer they reside in the U.S.^{11, 12}

Language also can play a critical role in health. Barriers can be created when people do not speak the same language as their health provider or when their level of ability in speaking English is limited. Ultimately, this language barrier could prevent people from receiving timely medical screenings and care, as well as fully understanding their health prognosis or any related health literature they may receive.^{13, 14, 15}

Despite the heterogeneity of the U.S. Hispanic population, 72.9 percent of all Hispanics reported that Spanish language was spoken at home.¹ Overall, 73.3 percent of Hispanics reported speaking a language other than English at home, ranging from 60.7 percent of Puerto Ricans to over three quarters (79.3 percent) of Cubans. Among Hispanics, 31.1 percent reported that they were Limited English Proficient and spoke English "less than very well" in 2015. Limited English proficiency varied among Hispanic groups, from 16.7 percent of Puerto Rican respondents to 39.8 percent of Cubans reporting speaking English "less than very well."⁶

Additionally, income and education are other social determinants that can have an influence on an individual's health status. In 2015, the estimate median income for Hispanics was \$45,719 compared to \$57,230 for all households (adjusted to 2016 dollars) and poverty rate was 21.4 percent for Hispanics compared to 13.5 percent nationwide. However, 66 percent of Hispanics age 25 or older had at least a high school education and 14.8 percentage had a bachelor's degree or higher.⁴

Methods

Survey and Sample

The Medicare Health Outcomes Survey (HOS) is a national longitudinal survey that measures health plans' success in maintaining or improving beneficiaries' physical and mental health.¹⁶ The HOS is the first patient-reported outcomes survey used in Medicare managed care. Each spring, a random sample of Medicare beneficiaries is drawn and surveyed from each participating Medicare Advantage Organization (MAO) with a minimum of 500 enrollees (i.e., a survey is administered to a different baseline cohort, or group, each year). Two years later, the baseline respondents are surveyed again (i.e., follow up measurement). The HOS is a patient-reported survey with mail and, in those instances when beneficiaries fail to respond, telephone components. In April 2013, the HOS became the first large scale CMS survey to collect expanded measures of race, ethnicity, sex, primary language, and disability status. More information about the HOS is available at www.hosonline.org/.

This report describes the health of Hispanic respondents from combined survey data in the HOS 2013-2015 Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18. The HOS health status items were collected with the HOS 2.5 instrument for Cohort 16 and Cohort 17, and the HOS 3.0 instrument for Cohort 18.^b The eligible sample for these analyses was derived from beneficiaries who completed the HOS survey in Baseline Cohort 16 (n=272,936), Baseline Cohort 17 (n=261,638), and Baseline Cohort 18 (n=256,735). For the purposes of this report, a completed survey is defined as one that could be used to calculate a physical component summary (PCS) score or mental component summary (MCS) score. Eligible respondents (n=791,309) included both beneficiaries age 65 years and older (n=663,119) and beneficiaries under age 65 years who were classified as disabled (n=128,190). In this report, age under 65 is used as a robust proxy for disability status, and successfully identifies 99.9 percent of beneficiaries who are classified by CMS administrative data as disabled with, and disabled without, End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD). For those beneficiaries who were respondents in more than one baseline cohort (n=35,056), their first complete survey was used for these analyses. Of the remaining respondents in Baseline Cohorts 16-18 (n=756,253), the analytic sample was drawn from beneficiaries who selected one or more Hispanic ethnicity categories (n=89,008). The Hispanic category includes beneficiaries who self-identified as Cuban, Puerto Rican, Mexican, Another Hispanic, or Multi-ethnic. The Multi-ethnic category includes respondents who selected more than one Hispanic group. The Hispanic category also includes beneficiaries who selected one or more race categories (n=64,058) from the race question in the HOS. Using ANOVA for continuous measures and chi-square test for categorical measures, statistically significant differences (p-value <0.05) across groups are noted. Appendix tables are provided to show health status measures by detailed group and gender.

^b Where referenced, HOS questions are derived from the HOS 3.0.

Limitations and Sample Recommendations

The analyses presented in this report use cross-sectional baseline data, not the longitudinal data that are available in the HOS. Therefore, trends and changes in health status are not presented in this report.

Disabled beneficiaries (beneficiaries less than 65 years old) are included in the analytic sample and results are presented for all Hispanic respondents. Disabled beneficiaries often report lower health status compared to beneficiaries ages 65 years and older across most HOS health status measures. Analyses that use data aggregated from both disabled and older respondents should be interpreted with caution as a higher proportion of disabled respondents may result in lower health status estimates for some groups. For example, Table 1 shows significant differences (p<0.0001) across Hispanic groups among beneficiaries under 65 years of age. Future descriptive analyses should consider stratifying results by age when sample sizes permit. In addition, any predictive modeling of health status measures should control for disability status using the age category of under 65 years old.

Results

Demographics

Demographic characteristics for Hispanic beneficiaries are outlined in Table 1. HOS demographics in the tables are detailed by sub-categories within the CMS administrative variables of age, gender, and Medicaid status; and beneficiary reported variables of marital status, education, English proficiency, English spoken at home, and annual household income. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, the mean age was 69.2 years (not shown in table). When excluding disabled Hispanic beneficiaries less than age 65, the observed mean age for respondents was 73.7 years (also not shown in tables). In general, disabled beneficiaries report poorer health status and have lower sociodemographic status compared to older beneficiaries who are not disabled.

As shown in Table 1, significant differences exist across all Hispanic groups for each of the demographic measures. Disabled beneficiaries comprised 26.9 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanic compared to 9.6 percent of Cuban respondents. Beneficiaries 80 years or older accounted for 23.5 percent of Cuban and 13.8 percent of Puerto Rican respondents. Across Hispanic groups, females encompassed over half of all respondents, with percentages ranging from 52.7 percent of Cubans to 59.9 percent of Other Hispanics. All groups of Hispanic beneficiaries most commonly reported being married, ranging from 43.2 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanic to 50.6 of Cuban beneficiaries reporting the marital status of married. Different patterns of English proficiency were observed across Hispanic groups. Almost two thirds of Hispanics beneficiaries, (65.8 percent) reported speaking English "less than very well." Significant differences were reported across Hispanic groups, ranging from 52.7 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanic beneficiaries to 82.5 percent of Puerto Ricans defining their English proficiency as "less than very well." English being spoken in the home varied across Hispanic groups, with nearly half (48.9 percent) of Mexican beneficiaries reporting English being spoken at home, compared to 12.7 percent of Puerto Rican beneficiaries. Less than half of Hispanic beneficiaries (47.4 percent) reported receiving Medicaid coverage. Within Hispanic groups, the percentage reporting Medicaid coverage varied from 43.7 percent of Puerto Ricans to 51.3 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics.

	Total Hispanic	Cuban	Puerto Rican	Mexican	Multi-ethnic	Other Hispanic
Demographics	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Age						
<65 ²	19,395 (21.8%)	469 (9.6%)	6,439 (23.5%)	6,136 (22.4%)	1,620 (26.9%)	4,731 (20.3%)
65-69	23,828 (26.8%)	1,197 (24.4%)	7,648 (28.0%)	7,102 (25.9%)	1,508 (25.0%)	6,373 (27.3%)
70-74	19,085 (21.4%)	1,085 (22.1%)	5,765 (21.1%)	5,815 (21.2%)	1,174 (19.5%)	5,246 (22.5%)
75-79	12,916 (14.5%)	999 (20.4%)	3,717 (13.6%)	4,013 (14.7%)	729 (12.1%)	3,458 (14.8%)
80-84	7,834 (8.8%)	625 (12.7%)	2,144 (7.8%)	2,450 (8.9%)	554 (9.2%)	2,061 (8.8%)
85 and over	5,950 (6.7%)	531 (10.8%)	1,647 (6.0%)	1,882 (6.9%)	437 (7.3%)	1,453 (6.2%)
Gender						
Male	38,625 (43.4%)	2,321 (47.3%)	12,124 (44.3%)	12,311 (44.9%)	2,520 (41.9%)	9,349 (40.1%)
Female	50,383 (56.6%)	2,585 (52.7%)	15,236 (55.7%)	15,087 (55.1%)	3,502 (58.2%)	13,973 (59.9%)
Marital Status						
Married	41,030 (46.9%)	2,441 (50.6%)	12,864 (47.8%)	13,123 (48.7%)	2,544 (43.2%)	10,058 (43.9%)
Widowed	17,794 (20.3%)	991 (20.5%)	5,347 (19.9%)	5,776 (21.4%)	1,221 (20.7%)	4,459 (19.5%)
Divorced or Separated	19,954 (22.8%)	1,066 (22.1%)	6,035 (22.4%)	5,366 (19.9%)	1,390 (23.6%)	6,097 (26.6%)
Never Married	8,738 (10.0%)	330 (6.8%)	2,669 (9.9%)	2,692 (10.0%)	735 (12.5%)	2,312 (10.1%)

Table 1: Hispanic¹ beneficiary demographics

	Total Hispanic	Cuban	Puerto Rican	Mexican	Multi-ethnic	Other Hispanic
Demographics	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Education						
Did Not Graduate HS	43,536 (51.2%)	2,130 (44.8%)	13,206 (50.4%)	15,448 (59.3%)	2,777 (49.3%)	9,975 (44.4%)
High School Graduate	20,602 (24.2%)	1,005 (21.2%)	6,045 (23.1%)	6,092 (23.4%)	1,525 (27.1%)	5,935 (26.4%)
Some College	12,741 (15.0%)	805 (17.0%)	3,674 (14.0%)	3,224 (12.4%)	905 (16.1%)	4,133 (18.4%)
4 Yr College Degree or						
more	8,204 (9.6%)	810 (17.1%)	3,279 (12.5%)	1,276 (4.9%)	429 (7.6%)	2,410 (10.7%)
English Proficiency ³						
Very Well	20,471 (34.2%)	660 (19.5%)	3,168 (17.5%)	8,166 (43.7%)	1,712 (47.3%)	6,765 (42.2%)
Less than very well	39,341 (65.8%)	2,730 (80.5%)	14,919 (82.5%)	10,505 (56.3%)	1,910 (52.7%)	9,277 (57.8%)
English Spoken at Home ³						
Yes	8642 (33.9%)	212 (16.0%)	1,029 (12.7%)	3,708 (48.9%)	807 (37.1%)	2,886 (46.2%)
No	16831 (66.1%)	1,116 (84.0%)	7,106 (87.4%)	3,883 (51.2%)	1,371 (63.0%)	3,335 (53.8%)
Annual Household						
Income						
Less than \$10,000	23,285 (28.0%)	1,065 (23.4%)				
\$10,000-\$19,999	20,724 (24.9%)	1,072 (23.6%)	7,140 (27.8%)	6,037 (23.7%)	1,186 (21.4%)	5,289 (24.2%)
\$20,000-\$29,999	10,672 (12.8%)	695 (15.3%)	3,191 (12.4%)	3,440 (13.5%)	616 (11.1%)	2,730 (12.5%)
\$30,000-\$49,999	8,385 (10.1%)	555 (12.2%)	2,221 (8.6%)	2,751 (10.8%)	430 (7.8%)	2,428 (11.1%)
\$50,000 or More	4,849 (5.8%)	427 (9.4%)	1,000 (3.9%)	1,501 (5.9%)	277 (5.0%)	1,644 (7.5%)
Don't Know	15,170 (18.3%)	732 (16.1%)	4,098 (16.0%)	5,282 (20.7%)	1,464 (26.4%)	3,594 (16.5%)
Medicaid Status		, <i>, ,</i>				
Medicaid	42,194 (47.4%)	2,214 (45.1%)	11,947 (43.7%)	13,345 (48.7%)	3,089 (51.3%)	11,599 (49.8%)
Non-Medicaid	46,802 (52.6%)	2,692 (54.9%)	15,408 (56.3%)	14,052 (51.3%)	2,933 (48.7%)	11,717 (50.3%)

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

²Beneficiaries less than 65 years old are classified as disabled.

³ English language is measured by two different questions across this 3 cohort sample: "How well do you speak English (very well, well, not well, or not at all)?" for *Cohort 16* and *Cohort 17* respondents, and "What language do you mainly speak at home (English, Spanish, Chinese, some other language)?" for *Cohort 18*.

Physical and Mental Component Summary Scores

Definition of Measures

- The HOS health status measures are the physical component summary (PCS) score and the mental component summary (MCS) score. These scores are calculated from the VR-12 (Questions 1-7 in the 2015 HOS 3.0) which asks respondents about their usual activities and how they would rate their health. A mean score of 50 represents the national average; a 10-point difference above and below the mean score is one standard deviation; and with few exceptions, the PCS and MCS scores have a range of 0 through 100 (higher being better).
- The VR-12 is a barometer of physical and mental health status. Concepts included in the measures are: physical functioning, role limitations due to physical problems (role-physical), bodily pain, general health, vitality, role limitations due to emotional problems (role-emotional), social functioning, and mental health.
- For the PCS measure, very high scores indicate no physical limitations, disabilities, or decline in well-being; high energy level; and a rating of health as excellent.
- For the MCS measure, very high scores indicate frequent positive affect, absence of psychological distress and no limitations in usual social and role activities due to emotional problems.

How are Hispanics Doing?

The mean unadjusted PCS and MCS scores for Hispanic beneficiaries are presented in Table 2. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, average PCS scores were 36.0 while average MCS scores were 45.9. There were significant differences (p<0.0001) across Hispanic groups in both PCS and MCS scores. Mean values of PCS scores ranged from 33.8 for Multi-Ethnic Hispanics to 38.1 for Cubans. The range of mean MCS scores was from 43.9 for Puerto Ricans to 47.4 for Cubans.

	Total Hispanic Mean (SD)	Cuban Mean (SD)	Puerto Rican Mean (SD)	Mexican Mean (SD)	Multi-ethnic Mean (SD)	Other Hispanic Mean (SD)
PCS	36.0 (12.0)	38.1 (12.0)	35.4 (11.6)	36.0 (12.0)	33.8 (12.0)	36.9 (12.1)
MCS	45.9 (13.2)	47.4 (13.2)	43.9 (13.4)	46.9 (12.8)	44.8 (13.3)	47.0 (12.9)

Table 2: Mean unadjusted PCS and MCS scores among Hispanics¹

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). ANOVA was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

PCS and MCS scores are not case-mix adjusted for this beneficiary-level report. Case-mix adjustment of PCS and MCS scores is done to enable plan-level comparisons between MAOs in other reports.

General Health and Comparative Health

Definition of Measures

- General health status is a self-reported measure of health perception using ratings of "Excellent," "Very good," "Good," "Fair," or "Poor."¹⁷ This measure is found in Question 1 of the HOS.
- Two measures of physical and mental health compared to one year ago use ratings of "Much better," "Slightly better," "About the same," "Slightly worse," or "Much worse." These measures are found in Questions 8 and 9 of the HOS.

General self-rated health status is a valid and reliable method for assessing health across different populations.¹⁸ Individuals who indicate that their general health was "Fair" or "Poor," or that their physical or mental health compared to one year ago was "Slightly worse" or "Much worse," are known to be at increased risk for future hospitalization, use of mental health services, and mortality.^{19, 20}

How are Hispanics Doing?

The categories found in Table 3 describe self-rated general health as well as physical and mental health compared to one year ago. Significant differences exist in self-reported general health among Hispanic groups. A majority of Puerto Rican beneficiaries (55.8 percent) reported their health as "Fair" or "Poor" in comparison to 42.5 percent of Cubans. About half (49.8 percent) of all Hispanic beneficiaries considered their general health was "Excellent" to "Good" while the remaining half reported "Fair" or "Poor" health. Nearly seven out of ten Hispanic beneficiaries (69.0 percent) reported that their physical health was "Much better" to "About the same" when compared to a year ago. The percentage of respondents who indicated their health was "Much

better" to "About the same" ranged from 72.5 percent of Cubans to 66.0 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanic.

The third component of Table 3, comparative mental health, was also found to be significantly different among Hispanic groups. Over three-fourths of Hispanic beneficiaries (79 percent) reported that their mental health was "Much better" to "About the same" when compared to a year ago. Respondents who selected "Slightly worse" to "Much worse" varied among groups, from 18.8 percent of Cubans to 22.8 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics.

Self-Rated	Total Hispanic	Cuban	Puerto Rican	Mexican	Multi-ethnic	Other Hispanic
Health	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
General Health						
Excellent to Good	43,455 (49.8%)	2,761 (57.5%)	11,834 (44.2%)	13,733 (51.2%)	2,748 (46.4%)	12,379 (54.1%)
Fair or Poor	43,730 (50.2%)	2,044 (42.5%)	14,921 (55.8%)	13,099 (48.8%)	3,176 (53.6%)	10,490 (45.9%)
Comparative Physical Health						
Much Better to About the Same	60,421 (69.0%)	3,484 (72.5%)	18,522 (69.0%)	18,570 (68.8%)	3,881 (66.0%)	15,964 (69.4%)
Slightly Worse or Much Worse	27,088 (31.0%)	1,324 (27.5%)	8,327 (31.0%)	8,412 (31.2%)	2,000 (34.0%)	7,025 (30.6%)
Comparative Mental Health						
Much Better to About the Same	68,373 (79.0%)	3,851 (81.2%)	20,637 (77.8%)	21,314 (79.7%)	4,469 (77.2%)	18,102 (79.5%)
Slightly Worse or Much Worse	18,219 (21.0%)	893 (18.8%)	5,887 (22.2%)	5,445 (20.3%)	1,321 (22.8%)	4,673 (20.5%)

Table 3: Self-rated general and comparative health status a	nong Hispanics ¹
---	-----------------------------

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Depression

Definition of Measure

• The HOS includes two questions (Questions 39a and 39b) that serve as a screening measure for depression. Each question is assigned points depending on the response given, from 0 ("Not at all") to 3 ("Nearly every day"). For this report, a Medicare beneficiary is considered to have a positive depression screen when he or she scores three points or greater across both depression questions.

Individuals with a positive depression screen may be at risk for depressive disorders. Depression is undetected and under-diagnosed in the majority of the older Medicare population and is an important health problem that has been linked to poor health outcomes.^{21, 22} Additionally, depression is significantly associated with other psychological dysfunction, as well as the presence of common chronic medical conditions, such as diabetes.^{23, 24}

How are Hispanics Doing?

Based on Table 4, there were significant differences (p<0.0001) in the responses to the two depression screening questions across all Hispanic groups. The most frequent response for both depression items was "Not at all" (48.1% for the first item and 55.1% for the second item). Significant differences were also found in the depression screen. Positive depression screens were found for 28.6 percent of Hispanics. The rate of positive depression screens ranged from 25.2 percent of Cubans to 34.9 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics.

Depression Screen	Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)
Little interest or pleasure in						
doing things in past two						
weeks						
Not at all (0 points)	41,128 (48.1%)	2,496 (53.3%)	10,463 (39.8%)	13,861 (52.7%)	2,489 (43.5%)	11,819 (52.4%)
Several days (1 point)	21,297 (24.9%)	1,101 (23.5%)	7,833 (29.8%)	5,725 (21.8%)	1,378 (24.1%)	5,260 (23.3%)
More than half the days						
(2 points)	11,135 (13.0%)	474 (10.1%)	3,624 (13.8%)	3,451 (13.1%)	761 (13.3%)	2,825 (12.5%)
Nearly every day (3 points)	11,997 (14.0%)	615 (13.1%)	4,373 (16.6%)	3,273 (12.4%)	1,096 (19.1%)	2,640 (11.7%)
Feeling down, depressed, or						
hopeless in past two weeks						
Not at all (0 points)	46,934 (55.1%)	2,741 (58.5%)	12,446 (47.7%)	15,556 (59.1%)	3,008 (52.2%)	13,183 (58.8%)
Several days (1 point)	20,218 (23.7%)	1,037 (22.1%)	7,122 (27.3%)	5,741 (21.8%)	1,362 (23.6%)	4,956 (22.1%)
More than half the days						
(2 points)	9,066 (10.6%)	405 (8.6%)	3,109 (11.9%)	2,669 (10.1%)	625 (10.8%)	2,258 (10.1%)
Nearly every day (3 points)	9,028 (10.6%)	504 (10.8%)	3,404 (13.1%)	2,345 (8.9%)	769 (13.3%)	2,006 (9.0%)
Depression Screen*		, , ,			/	
Positive	23,832 (28.6%)	1,155 (25.2%)	8,370 (32.8%)	6,769 (26.4%)	1,941 (34.9%)	5,597 (25.4%)
Negative	59,593 (71.4%)	3,426 (74.8%)	17,178 (67.2%)	18,918 (73.6%)	3,626 (65.1%)	16,445 (74.6%)

Table 4: Frequency of positive depression screen responses among Hispanics¹

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. A positive depression screen is defined as scoring 3 points or greater on the sum total of the two depression questions listed. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Pain

Definition of Measure

• The HOS includes questions to measure self-reported pain over the previous seven days. Question 36 asks how much pain interfered with day-to-day activities and Question 37 asks how often pain kept the beneficiary from socializing. Each question has five possible categorical responses. Question 36 responses include "Not at all," "A little bit," "Somewhat," "Quite a bit," or "Very much." Question 37 responses include "Never," "Rarely," "Sometimes," "Often," or "Always."

Self-reported pain is common among older adults. Without proper pain management, opioid abuse^{25, 26} and alcohol abuse²⁷ are increasing in this population as they attempt to control their pain. Pain screening is the initial step in establishing an appropriate pain management program for older beneficiaries. In fact, The Joint Commission requires assessment of pain when clinically indicated for patients in accredited hospitals, clinics, and long-term care facilities.²⁸

How are Hispanics Doing?

Significant differences were found in both pain interfering with daily activities and pain interfering with socializing at each level of pain among Hispanic groups. As Table 5 shows, more than half of all beneficiaries across each Hispanic group indicated that pain interfered "Not at all" to "Somewhat" in the past seven days. Similar response levels were seen for pain interfering with socializing "Never" to "Sometimes," which accounted for at least two-thirds of Hispanic beneficiaries in each group. Experiencing pain with daily activities "Quite a bit" or

"Very much" was reported at various levels, ranging from 24.3 percent of Cubans to 33.4 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics. When it came to socializing, pain was reported to interfere "Often" or "Always" at varying rates from 17.8 percent of Cubans to 27.8 percent of Puerto Ricans.

	Total Hispanic	Cuban	Puerto Rican	Mexican	Multi-ethnic	Other Hispanic
Pain Questions	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Pain Interfering with						
Daily Activities						
Not at all to Somewhat	59,692 (69.0%)	3,577 (75.7%)	16,502 (62.6%)	19,447 (72.6%)	3,918 (66.6%)	16,248 (71.5%)
Quite a bit or Very much	26,760 (31.0%)	1,149 (24.3%)	9,847 (37.4%)	7,330 (27.4%)	1,969 (33.4%)	6,465 (28.5%)
Pain Interfering with						
Socializing						
Never to Sometimes	66,968 (77.6%)	3,871 (82.2%)	18,969 (72.2%)	21,589 (80.8%)	4,431 (75.7%)	18,108 (79.8%)
Often or Always	19,289 (22.4%)	839 (17.8%)	7.316 (27.8%)	5.115 (19.2%)	1.426 (24.3%)	4,593 (20.2%)

Table 5: Extent pain interfered with daily activities and socializing among Hispanics¹

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Chronic Medical Conditions

Definition of Measure

• The HOS includes 15 chronic disease measures that assess health across the beneficiary lifespan. These measures are found in Questions 20-34 of the HOS. This report presents seven of the chronic condition measures found in the HOS, including hypertension, arthritis of the hip or knee, arthritis of the hand or wrist, diabetes, sciatica, osteoporosis, and depression.

For older adults, chronic medical conditions reduce the quality of life, accelerate a decline in functioning, and can lead to conflicting medical advice.²⁹ The increased cost associated with chronic disease is an important factor driving overall Medicare spending.³⁰ According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, two out of three adults over the age of 65 have multiple chronic conditions and the need for coordinated care.³¹ Medicare beneficiaries with multiple chronic conditions account for more than three times the average per capita costs, with over 140 billion dollars in total spending in 2010.³²

How are Hispanics Doing?

The prevalence rates of seven chronic conditions for Hispanic beneficiaries were examined. The top three prevalent chronic conditions for Hispanics were hypertension, arthritis of the hip or knee, and arthritis of the hand or wrist.

As Table 6 shows, the prevalence of these seven chronic conditions and the total number of chronic conditions were significantly different (p<0.0001) among Hispanic groups. Nearly seven out of ten (68.4 percent) Hispanics had been diagnosed with hypertension and a one out of four (25.4) reported having osteoporosis. Two or more chronic conditions were reported by more than three quarters of beneficiaries in each Hispanic group, ranging from 78.4 percent of Other Hispanics to 83.3 percent of Puerto Ricans.

Table 0. Number				<u> </u>		Others III's a surface
Prevalent Chronic	Total Hispanic	Cuban	Puerto Rican	Mexican	Multi-ethnic	Other Hispanic
Conditions	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Prevalent Conditions						
Hypertension	59,792 (68.4%)	3,396 (70.5%)	18,751 (69.9%)	18,431 (68.4%)	3,935 (66.4%)	15,279 (66.5%)
Arthritis - Hip or Knee	42,990 (49.5%)	2,438 (51.0%)	14,103 (53.0%)	12,419 (46.4%)	2,894 (49.1%)	11,136 (48.9%)
Arthritis - Hand or Wrist	36,835 (42.5%)	1,933 (40.5%)	12,197 (46.0%)	10,703 (40.0%)	2,494 (42.5%)	9,508 (41.8%)
Diabetes	34,124 (39.1%)	1,474 (30.6%)	10,922 (40.8%)	11,244 (41.8%)	2,389 (40.3%)	8,095 (35.4%)
Sciatica	28,556 (33.1%)	1,640 (34.4%)	9,952 (37.8%)	7,626 (28.6%)	1,955 (33.4%)	7,383 (32.5%)
Osteoporosis	21,898 (25.4%)	1,155 (24.3%)	7,969 (30.2%)	5,788 (21.7%)	1,446 (24.7%)	5,540 (24.4%)
Depression	30,659 (35.3%)	1,610 (33.8%)	11,087 (41.7%)	8,491 (31.7%)	2,364 (40.0%)	7,107 (31.2%)
Number of Chronic						
Conditions						
No conditions	6,274 (7.1%)	312 (6.4%)	1,609 (5.9%)	2,116 (7.8%)	415 (6.9%)	1,822 (7.8%)
One condition	11,327 (12.8%)	637 (13.0%)	2,942 (10.8%)	3,821 (14.0%)	732 (12.2%)	3,195 (13.8%)
Two or three conditions	26,949 (30.4%)	1,560 (31.9%)	7,476 (27.4%)	8,824 (32.3%)	1,715 (28.6%)	7,374 (31.7%)
Four or more conditions	44,118 (49.8%)	2,376 (48.6%)	15,225 (55.9%)	12,536 (45.9%)	3,141 (52.3%)	10,840 (46.7%)

Table 6: Number of most prevalent chronic conditions among Hispanics¹

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Total for "yes" responses reported for each chronic condition. Number of chronic conditions based on 15 measures collected by the HOS. Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Activities of Daily Living

Definition of Measures

- Activities of daily living (ADL) refer to a set of common daily tasks that are necessary for personal self-care and independent living.³³ ADLs include bathing, dressing, eating, getting in or out of chairs, walking, and using the toilet. These measures are found in Question 10 of the HOS. An ADL impairment is when someone has a difficulty with or is unable to perform an activity (i.e., selects "Yes, I have difficulty" or "I am unable to do this activity").
- Instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) assess independent living skills that are more complex than ADLs.^{34, 35} IADLs include preparing meals, managing money, and taking medications. These measures are found in Question 11 of the HOS. For IADLs, impairment is defined as beneficiaries who reported having difficulty performing an activity (i.e., "Yes, I have difficulty").

Six ADLs are included in the HOS to examine reported difficulty with the performance of daily tasks. The ability to perform these tasks is predictive of current disease status and mortality risk.^{36, 37} Difficulties with ADLs are strongly associated with increasing age and with disability status.^{38, 39} A study of the Medicare population showed that the total median healthcare costs per year increased as the number of ADL difficulties increased, even after adjustment for sociodemographic characteristics and comorbidities.⁴⁰

There are three IADLs in the HOS that examine reported difficulty with the performance of tasks of independence. In comparison to the ADLs, IADLs are considered to recognize earlier changes in functioning and can be used as an indication of the need for intervention or further medical work-up.³⁵

How are Hispanics Doing?

The prevalence of ADL impairments in Hispanic beneficiaries is outlined in Table 7. There were significant differences (p<0.0001) across Hispanic groups for each of the ADLs. Overall, rates of impairment varied from 42.2 percent for walking to 10.1 percent for eating. The percentage of Hispanic beneficiaries who reported difficulty with walking ranged from 46.2 percent for Puerto Ricans to 34.5 percent for Cubans.

Ranging from zero to three or more, the number of ADL impairments reported by Hispanic groups was also found to be significantly different (p<0.0001). All Hispanic groups most commonly reported zero ADL impairments. Just over half of all Hispanic beneficiaries reported zero ADL impairments compared to one quarter who reported three or more ADL impairments. Three or more ADL impairments were reported by 27.5 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics and 20.5 percent of Cubans.

Table 7: Impairments in Activities of Daily Living (ADL) among Hispanics ¹

Tuble 7. Impairments in recivities of Daily Living (TDL) among inspances								
ADL	Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)		
ADL Impairments								
Walking	36,812 (42.2%)	1,663 (34.5%)	12,373 (46.2%)	11,040 (41.1%)	2,461 (41.9%)	9,275 (40.5%)		
Getting in/out of chairs	28,639 (32.9%)	1,315 (27.4%)	10,424 (39.0%)	8,051 (30.0%)	1,979 (33.6%)	6,870 (30.0%)		
Bathing	21,339 (24.4%)	977 (20.2%)	6,735 (25.1%)	6,681 (24.8%)	1,730 (29.3%)	5,216 (22.7%)		
Dressing	20,025 (22.9%)	920 (19.1%)	6,925 (25.9%)	5,905 (22.0%)	1,591 (26.9%)	4,684 (20.4%)		
Using the toilet	14,328 (16.4%)	667 (13.8%)	4,894 (18.3%)	4,305 (16.0%)	1,070 (18.2%)	3,392 (14.8%)		
Eating	8,803 (10.1%)	394 (8.2%)	2,890 (10.8%)	2,660 (9.9%)	676 (11.4%)	2,183 (9.6%)		
Number of ADL Impairments								
None	44,697 (50.6%)	2,831 (58.1%)	12,623 (46.5%)	14,161 (52.0%)	2,811 (46.8%)	12,271 (53.0%)		
One ADL	12,119 (13.7%)	630 (12.9%)	3,605 (13.3%)	3,744 (13.8%)	908 (15.1%)	3,232 (14.0%)		
Two ADLs	9,523 (10.8%)	412 (8.5%)	3,339 (12.3%)	2,783 (10.2%)	636 (10.6%)	2,353 (10.2%)		
Three or More ADLs	22,076 (25.0%)	1,000 (20.5%)	7,584 (27.9%)	6,536 (24.0%)	1,649 (27.5%)	5,307 (22.9%)		

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Total for "yes" responses reported for each ADL impairment. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Significant differences were found across the three IADLs for Hispanic groups (Table 8; p<0.0001). The percentage of Hispanic beneficiaries who reported having difficulty preparing meals ranged from 15.2 for Cubans to 21.7 percent for Multi-ethnic beneficiaries.

1 abit 0, impairments in instrumental features of Dairy Diving (17DD) among inspantes	Table 8: Impairments in Instrumental Activities of Dail	ly Living ((IADL) among Hi	spanics ¹
---	---	-------------	-----------------	----------------------

				<u> </u>		
IADL	Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)
Preparing Meals	14,951 (19.6%)	642 (15.2%)	4,622 (20.1%)	4,624 (19.6%)	1,100 (21.7%)	3,963 (19.4%)
Managing Money	10,210 (12.9%)	401 (9.2%)	3,317 (13.7%)	3,132 (12.8%)	762 (14.4%)	2,598 (12.3%)
Taking Medication as						
Prescribed	11,333 (13.6%)	437 (9.4%)	4,169 (16.3%)	3,297 (12.8%)	788 (13.9%)	2,642 (12.0%)
	1 40 47 1407 75		" "			21.

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Total for "yes" responses reported for each IADL impairment. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

Healthy Days Measures

Definition of Measures

- Physically unhealthy days is a self-reported measure of the number of days during the past 30 days when physical health was not good. The measure is found in Question 12 of the HOS.
- Mentally unhealthy days is a self-reported measure of the number of days during the past 30 days when mental health was not good. The measure is found in Question 13 of the HOS.
- Days with activity limitations is a self-reported measure of the number of days during the past 30 days when poor physical or mental health kept the beneficiary from usual activities. The measure is found in Question 14 of the HOS.

Healthy Days Measures provide key information on the functional status of vulnerable subpopulations and are used to assess the Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL)⁴¹ across the U.S. According to the CDC, "In recent years, several organizations have found these Healthy Days Measures useful at the national, state, and community levels for (1) identifying health disparities, (2) tracking population trends, and (3) building broad coalitions around a measure of population health compatible with the World Health Organization's definition of health."⁴² The CDC HRQOL program considers 14 or more unhealthy days in the past 30 days as an indicator of poor well-being.⁴³

How are Hispanics Doing?

As Table 9 shows, significant differences were found across each of the three components under the healthy days measures: the number of physically unhealthy days, the number of mentally unhealthy days, and the number of days with activity limitations. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, 35 percent reported having 14-30 physically unhealthy days in the past 30 days. When examined further by specific Hispanic group, 30.6 percent of Cuban beneficiaries reported 14-30 unhealthy days compared to 40.3 percent of Puerto Rican beneficiaries.

Table 9 displays the distribution of mentally unhealthy days, with slightly more than half (53.3 percent) of Hispanic beneficiaries reporting no mentally unhealthy days in the past month. Once again, significant differences were noted across Hispanic groups. For example, 46.4 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics and 59.1 percent of Cuban beneficiaries reported no mentally unhealthy days; whereas, 25.8 percent of Hispanics reported 14 or more mentally unhealthy days in the past 30 days. The prevalence of 14-30 mentally unhealthy days among Hispanic beneficiaries ranged from 23.5 percent of Cubans to 29.9 percent of Puerto Ricans.

The third construct of the healthy days measures, days with activity limitations in the past month, was also significantly different across Hispanic groups. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, 28 percent reported that they experienced 14-30 days in the past month with activity limitations. Nearly 24 percent of Cuban (23.6 percent), 32.3 percent of Puerto Rican, and 32.7 percent of Multi-ethnic beneficiaries reported 14 or more days with activity limitations.

Unhealthy Days and Limitations	Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)
Number of Physically						
Unhealthy Days						
None	32,964 (40.1%)	2,064 (45.5%)	8,847 (35.2%)	11,026 (43.5%)	1,806 (33.7%)	9,221 (42.1%)
1-13 Unhealthy Days	20,536 (25.0%)	1,088 (24.0%)	6,136 (24.4%)	6,257 (24.7%)	1,463 (27.3%)	5,592 (25.5%)
14-30 Unhealthy Days	28,781 (35.0%)	1,388 (30.6%)	10,118 (40.3%)	8,088 (31.9%)	2,087 (39.0%)	7,100 (32.4%)
Number of Mentally		• •				
Unhealthy Days						
None	43,900 (53.3%)	2,672 (59.1%)	12,651 (50.3%)	14,112 (55.5%)	2,490 (46.4%)	11,975 (54.6%)
1-13 Unhealthy Days	17,249 (20.9%)	790 (17.5%)	4,971 (19.8%)	5,426 (21.3%)	1,334 (24.9%)	4,728 (21.5%)
14-30 Unhealthy Days	21,265 (25.8%)	1,062 (23.5%)	7,515 (29.9%)	5,910 (23.2%)	1,540 (28.7%)	5,238 (23.9%)
Days with Activity		• •				
Limitations						
None	44,495 (54.2%)	2,814 (61.9%)	12,446 (50.0%)	14,442 (56.7%)	2,528 (47.4%)	12,265 (56.1%)
1-13 Unhealthy Days	14,621 (17.8%)	661 (14.5%)	4,417 (17.7%)	4,472 (17.6%)	1,065 (20.0%)	4,006 (18.3%)
14-30 Unhealthy Days	22,983 (28.0%)	1,071 (23.6%)	8,040 (32.3%)	6,535 (25.7%)	1,744 (32.7%)	5,593 (25.6%)

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Body Mass Index

Definition of Measures

- Self-reported height and weight values are used to calculate BMI, a measure that correlates with the amount of body fat in adult men and women. BMI is derived from Questions 55 and 56 of the HOS.
- BMI is calculated as: BMI = [weight in pounds / (height in inches)²] x 703, which uses the height and weight to produce the standard measure of kg/m^2 units.

A BMI of 30 or higher is considered obese and increases risk for several chronic conditions including: hypertension, dyslipidemia, type 2 diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, gallbladder disease, osteoarthritis, sleep apnea, and some cancers.⁴⁴ Being overweight (BMI 25-29.9) or obese has been shown to accelerate the aging process.⁴⁵ A BMI that is under 18.5 is considered underweight.⁴⁶ Rapid weight loss often indicates an underlying disease and can accelerate the loss of muscle mass, which naturally occurs with the aging process.⁴⁷

How are Hispanics doing?

The distribution of three of the four BMI categories was found to be significantly different (p<0.0001) among Hispanic groups, as shown in Table 10. With the exception of Cubans (31 percent), at least one third of beneficiaries in each Hispanic group were obese; whereas, the percentages across groups of Hispanic beneficiaries classified as overweight, ranged from 35.6 percent of Multi Ethnic Hispanics to 40.7 percent of Cubans. The underweight classification of BMI was not found to be significantly different across Hispanic groups.

BMI ²	Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)
Underweight (<18.50)	1,423 (1.7%)	67 (1.5%)	489 (1.9%)	401 (1.6%)	99 (1.8%)	367 (1.7%)
Normal (18.50-24.99)	20,178 (24.5%)	1,223 (26.8%)	6,563 (25.5%)	5,291 (21.1%)	1,329 (23.8%)	5,772 (26.8%)
Overweight (25-29.99)	31,729 (38.5%)	1,858 (40.7%)	10,234 (39.7%)	9,367 (37.4%)	1,983 (35.6%)	8,287 (38.5%)
Obese (>=30)	29,147 (35.3%)	1,413 (31.0%)	8,494 (32.9%)	9,959 (39.8%)	2,164 (38.8%)	7,117 (33.0%)

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

² BMI is calculated as: BMI = [weight in pounds / (height in inches)²] x 703, which uses the height and weight to produce the standard measure of kg/m² units. BMI categories include: underweight (<18.5), normal (18.5-24.9), overweight (25-29.9), and obese (30 and above).

Sleep Measures

Definition of Measures

- Sleep duration is a self-reported measure of the average number of hours of actual sleep at night during the past month. The measure is found in Question 53 of the HOS.
- Sleep quality is a self-reported measure that rates the overall sleep quality during the past month. The measure is found in Question 54 of the HOS.

Two new sleep questions in the HOS 3.0 were drawn from the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). The questions focus on "habitual" (i.e., past month) sleep duration and quality, rather than past week measures, in order to capture more chronic sleep disturbances. The PSQI has a high test-retest reliability and good validity in patients with insomnia.⁴⁸

There is substantial evidence linking insufficient sleep duration and poor sleep quality to mental and physical health morbidity, as well as mortality.⁴⁹ Various epidemiologic findings associate sleep duration with obesity, diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance, hypertension, and mortality.⁵⁰ People who report fair or poor health are less likely to overestimate sleep hours and report shorter sleep hours on average than those with better self-rated health.⁵¹ These observations may provide a basis for future studies on weight control interventions and maintenance of daily routines in sleep habits to increase the quantity and quality of sleep.

How are Hispanics Doing?

Actual number of sleep hours and overall sleep quality over the past month for Hispanics are shown in Table 11. Based on data found only in *Baseline Cohort 18*, there are fewer responses for this measure and results should be considered with caution.

Table 11 illustrate that nearly four out of five Hispanic beneficiaries (78.5 percent) slept for 5-6 or 7-8 hours. There were significant differences in actual hours of sleep among Hispanic groups. For example, the ideal "7-8 hours" of sleep was reported by 43.1 percent of Mexican beneficiaries compared to 33 percent of Puerto Ricans. The extremes of actual hours of sleep (less than 5 or 9 or more) were also found to be significantly different. Less than 5 hours of sleep was reported by 12.1 percent of Mexicans in comparison to 18.4 percent of Puerto Rican respondents. On the other end of the spectrum, 7.5 percent of Mexican beneficiaries and 5.5 percent of Puerto Ricans reported 9 or more hours of sleep.

The highest rating of sleep, "Very good," was reported at levels varying from 22.5 percent of Puerto Rican beneficiaries to 26.3 of Cubans. The worst level of sleep quality, "Very bad," was reported the least often, ranging from 6.2 percent of Cuban respondents to 9.0 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanics.

<i>Conorr</i> 10						
Sleep Questions	Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)
Hours of Actual Sleep						
Less than 5 hours	4,125 (15.1%)	172 (12.3%)	1,570 (18.4%)	993 (12.1%)	353 (15.9%)	1,037 (15.1%)
5 – 6 hours	11,018 (40.5%)	564 (40.2%)	3,689 (43.1%)	3,054 (37.2%)	898 (40.4%)	2,813 (41.0%)
7 – 8 hours	10,363 (38.0%)	567 (40.4%)	2,825 (33.0%)	3,535 (43.1%)	821 (36.9%)	2,615 (38.1%)
9 or more hours	1,731 (6.4%)	99 (7.1%)	468 (5.5%)	619 (7.5%)	153 (6.9%)	392 (5.7%)
Overall Sleep Quality						
Very good	6,418 (23.6%)	367 (26.3%)	1,920 (22.5%)	2,027 (24.6%)	523 (23.6%)	1,581 (23.0%)
Fairly good	13,987 (51.3%)	709 (50.8%)	4,272 (50.1%)	4,339 (52.7%)	1,068 (48.2%)	3,599 (52.3%)
Fairly bad	4,872 (17.9%)	234 (16.8%)	1,640 (19.2%)	1,342 (16.3%)	427 (19.3%)	1,229 (17.9%)
Very bad	1,975 (7.2%)	86 (6.2%)	692 (8.1%)	525 (6.4%)	200 (9.0%)	472 (6.9%)
Natas HOC Basalina Cab	art 10 (n=0EC 72E)	Due te reunding	our of collomous	act actual 100 nor	ant Chi aguara taa	twoo wood to toot

Table 11: Distributions of slee	p duration	and quality	among Hispanics, ¹	HOS Baseline
Cohort 18	-			

Note: HOS Baseline Cohort 18 (n=256,735). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Chi-square test was used to test for statistical significance across Hispanic groups.

¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

NCQA HEDIS Measures

The Medicare HOS includes four Effectiveness of Care measures that are part of the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS[®]): Management of Urinary Incontinence in Older Adults (MUI), Physical Activity in Older Adults (PAO), Fall Risk Management (FRM), and Osteoporosis Testing in Older Women (OTO).^{52, 53} HEDIS process measures gauge how well a MAO manages the quality of care of its beneficiaries ages 65 years or older. For this report, the results for three of the HEDIS measures (PAO, FRM, and OTO) were calculated using the three merged *Baseline Cohorts 16–18*, while one measure (MUI) was calculated using *Baseline Cohorts 16* and *17*. HEDIS rates are typically calculated and reported at the MAO contract level; therefore, caution should be used when interpreting beneficiary-level HEDIS rates, as they are influenced by the effectiveness of care provided at the individual MAO level. HEDIS measures may reflect healthcare differences, rather than health status differences, as reported by beneficiaries. More information about HEDIS measures found in the HOS is available at www.HOSonline.org.

Based on the results in Table 12, all but one of the HEDIS measures are significantly different across Hispanic groups. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, discussing urinary incontinence (UI) was reported by more than half (60.7 percent) of respondents, and receiving UI treatment was reported by over a third (37.4%). While discussing UI differed significantly across Hispanic groups, varying from 58.6 percent of Mexican beneficiaries to 63.8 percent of Puerto Rican beneficiaries, receiving treatment for UI did not vary significantly.

As components of the PAO measure, both discussing physical activity and advising on physical activity in older adults were found to be significantly different for Hispanic groups. Inclusive of all Hispanic beneficiaries, 52.3 percent reported discussing physical activity with a medical

provider while 55.7 percent reported receiving physical activity advice from a provider. Among Hispanic beneficiaries, discussing physical activity ranged from 49.3 percent of Multi-Ethnic Hispanic to 55.4 percent of Other Hispanics. Receiving physical activity advice ranged from 53.6 percent of Mexican to 60.5 percent of Cuban beneficiaries.

For Hispanic beneficiaries, 40.1 percent reported discussing fall risk with a medical provider, while about two-thirds (67.6 percent) reported management of fall risk with their provider. Both discussing fall risk and managing fall risk were found to be significantly different among Hispanic groups. Across Hispanic groups, discussing fall risk with a medical provider varied from 36.6 of Cuban to 44.7 percent of Puerto Rican beneficiaries. Similarly, managing fall risk ranged from 65.7 percent and 65.8 percent of Other Hispanic and Mexican beneficiaries, respectively, to 73.6 percent of Multi-Ethnic Hispanic beneficiaries.

Increasing age is a risk factor that is related to osteoporosis for female beneficiaries. Like a majority of the previous measures, there were significant differences across Hispanic groups for osteoporosis testing in older women. In all, 69.6 percent of Hispanic respondents reported having received a bone density test to check for osteoporosis. Osteoporosis testing across groups ranged from 63.7 percent of Mexican women to 79.3 percent of Cuban women.

Table 12: Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS) ¹ estimates a	imong a
diverse group of Hispanics	

Total Hispanic n (%)	Cuban n (%)	Puerto Rican n (%)	Mexican n (%)	Multi-Ethnic n (%)	Other Hispanic n (%)
7,257 (60.7%)	417 (63.4%)	1,980 (63.8%)	2,353 (58.6%)	452 (59.2%)	2,055 (60.2%)
4,462 (37.4%)	256 (38.7%)	1,146 (37.1%)	1,462 (36.6%)	280 (36.7%)	1,318 (38.6%
32,668 (52.3%)	2,244 (55.1%)	9,079 (49.7%)	10,050 (52.2%)	2,025 (49.3%)	9,270 (55.4%)
35,718 (55.7%)	2,513 (60.5%)	10,753 (56.7%)	10,563 (53.6%)	2,265 (54.4%)	9,624 (56.3%)
16,270 (40.1%)	1,006 (36.6%)	5,521 (44.7%)	4,580 (37.3%)	1,169 (42.2%)	3,994 (38.2%)
19,478 (67.6%)	1,173 (70.4%)	6,453 (69.0%)	5,601 (65.8%)	1,535 (73.6%)	4,716 (65.7%)
27 175 (60 6%)	1 816 (70 3%)	8 587 (74 5%)	7 480 (63 7%)	1 650 (64 0%)	7,633 (69.9%
	n (%) 7,257 (60.7%) 4,462 (37.4%) 32,668 (52.3%) 35,718 (55.7%) 16,270 (40.1%)	n (%) n (%) 7,257 (60.7%) 417 (63.4%) 4,462 (37.4%) 256 (38.7%) 32,668 (52.3%) 2,244 (55.1%) 35,718 (55.7%) 2,513 (60.5%) 16,270 (40.1%) 1,006 (36.6%) 19,478 (67.6%) 1,173 (70.4%)	n (%) n (%) n (%) 7,257 (60.7%) 417 (63.4%) 1,980 (63.8%) 4,462 (37.4%) 256 (38.7%) 1,146 (37.1%) 32,668 (52.3%) 2,244 (55.1%) 9,079 (49.7%) 35,718 (55.7%) 2,513 (60.5%) 10,753 (56.7%) 16,270 (40.1%) 1,006 (36.6%) 5,521 (44.7%) 19,478 (67.6%) 1,173 (70.4%) 6,453 (69.0%)	n (%) n (%) n (%) n (%) 7,257 (60.7%) 417 (63.4%) 1,980 (63.8%) 2,353 (58.6%) 4,462 (37.4%) 256 (38.7%) 1,146 (37.1%) 1,462 (36.6%) 32,668 (52.3%) 2,244 (55.1%) 9,079 (49.7%) 10,050 (52.2%) 35,718 (55.7%) 2,513 (60.5%) 10,753 (56.7%) 10,563 (53.6%) 16,270 (40.1%) 1,006 (36.6%) 5,521 (44.7%) 4,580 (37.3%) 19,478 (67.6%) 1,173 (70.4%) 6,453 (69.0%) 5,601 (65.8%)	n (%) n (%) n (%) n (%) n (%) 7,257 (60.7%) 417 (63.4%) 1,980 (63.8%) 2,353 (58.6%) 452 (59.2%) 4,462 (37.4%) 256 (38.7%) 1,146 (37.1%) 1,462 (36.6%) 280 (36.7%) 32,668 (52.3%) 2,244 (55.1%) 9,079 (49.7%) 10,050 (52.2%) 2,025 (49.3%) 35,718 (55.7%) 2,513 (60.5%) 10,753 (56.7%) 10,563 (53.6%) 2,265 (54.4%) 16,270 (40.1%) 1,006 (36.6%) 5,521 (44.7%) 4,580 (37.3%) 1,169 (42.2%) 19,478 (67.6%) 1,173 (70.4%) 6,453 (69.0%) 5,601 (65.8%) 1,535 (73.6%)

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=634,914). Chi-square test for row differences for groups with reportable HEDIS rates.

¹ HEDIS measures apply only to the respondents \geq 65 years of age.

² Cohorts 16 and 17 only (n=438,820).

Conclusions

This report provides an enhanced understanding of the health needs of diverse groups of Hispanic Medicare beneficiaries. Since 2013, the Medicare HOS has been reporting disaggregated results for Hispanic beneficiaries who self-identified as Cuban, Puerto Rican, Mexican, Other Hispanic, or Multi-ethnic. The HOS collects sufficient data to analyze the health status of Hispanic Medicare Part C and D beneficiaries by these distinct groups. Appendix tables contained in this report provide additional information about the health status of Hispanic groups by gender.

Data from the 2013-2015 HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 demonstrate that within the five Hispanic groups there was significant variation in health status across many measures including: self-rated general health, positive depression screen, days with activity limitations, prevalence of obesity, and two new measures available in *Cohort 18*, sleep duration and quality. One-half of Hispanics (50.2 percent) reported "Fair" or "Poor" health with significant differences reported across groups, ranging from 42.5 percent for Cubans to 55.8 percent for Puerto Ricans. More than one-quarter (28.6 percent) of Hispanics screened positive for depression. There were significant differences across groups, with 25.2 percent of Cuban compared to 34.9 percent of Multi-ethnic Hispanic beneficiaries reporting a positive depression screen. The highest number of days with activity limitations was reported by 28.0 percent of Hispanic beneficiaries, with rates varying significantly from 23.6 percent for Cuban to 32.7 percent for Multi-ethnic respondents. The prevalence of obesity among Hispanics was 35.3 percent. Rates of obesity for Hispanic groups varied significantly from 31.0 percent for Cubans to 39.8 percent for Mexicans. Across the two new sleep measures found in Cohort 18, 55.6 percent of Hispanic beneficiaries reported less than the ideal "7-8 hours" of sleep, and approximately one-quarter (25.1 percent) reported "Fairly bad" or "Very bad" overall sleep quality in the past month. Less than ideal sleep varied significantly from 49.3 percent among Mexican to 61.5 percent among Puerto Rican beneficiaries. Hispanic beneficiaries reporting the two lowest categories of sleep quality ranged significantly from 22.7 percent for Mexicans to 28.3 percent for Multi-ethnic beneficiaries.

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) demographic data collection standards provide additional granularity for Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, sex, primary language, and disability status collected in population health surveys. This added level of detail enhances the ability of public health professionals to identify and monitor the health and health care status of diverse population groups. The findings presented in this report demonstrate that stratifying health data for detailed Hispanic groups reveals unique and significant differences otherwise masked by aggregate analyses. The Medicare HOS provides CMS with an important data resource for tracking the health status of Medicare Advantage beneficiaries to address disparities in diverse groups. OMH welcomes feedback from stakeholders on these analyses. Feedback and any requests for more detailed analyses can be submitted to HealthEquityTA@cms.hhs.gov.

Appendix Tables

Health Status by Gender

Gender is a key social determinant of health in addition to race.⁵⁴ CMS administrative data on gender make it possible to stratify self-reported race by gender. Gender affects behavior and lifestyle, both of which can affect overall health.⁵⁵ This can be manifested in various ways, such as influencing the risk factors an individual is exposed to or the accessibility of healthcare.⁵⁶

Gender differences in health status and use of health services are well documented. Women constitute a majority of beneficiaries in Medicare Advantage plans (note: in the HOS sample, beneficiaries with disabilities under age 65 are majority male and beneficiaries ages 65 and older are majority female); and differences in wealth, income, and education may influence the use and quality of care women receive relative to men.^{57, 58, 59, 60} A gender gap exists as health differences continue to disproportionately affect female Medicare beneficiaries.⁶⁰ The following tables present HOS results on health status by gender for detailed groups of Hispanics. The results by gender for the HOS total are also provided for comparison to Hispanic respondents.

Summary (MCS) score (unadjusted) for inspanic groups by gender						
	PCS	MCS				
Race	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)				
HOS Total	38.0 (12.8)	50.4 (12.2)				
Male	38.9 (12.6)	50.9 (12.0)				
Female	37.3 (12.8)	50.1 (12.3)				
Hispanic	36.0 (12.0)	45.9 (13.2)				
Male	37.2 (12.0)	46.3 (13.2)				
Female	35.1 (11.9)	45.5 (13.1)				
Cuban	38.1 (12.0)	47.4 (13.2)				
Male	39.6 (11.8)	48.7 (12.9)				
Female	36.9 (12.0)	46.2 (13.4)				
Puerto Rican	35.4 (11.6)	43.9 (13.4)				
Male	36.8 (11.7)	44.5 (13.5)				
Female	34.3 (11.4)	43.4 (13.3)				
Mexican	36.0 (12.0)	46.9 (12.8)				
Male	36.7 (12.0)	47.1 (12.9)				
Female	35.4 (12.0)	46.7 (12.8)				
Multi-ethnic	33.8 (12.0)	44.8 (13.3)				
Male	34.7 (12.0)	44.9 (13.6)				
Female	33.2 (11.9)	44.7 (13.1)				
Other Hispanic	36.9 (12.1)	47.0 (12.9)				
Male	38.3 (12.1)	47.4 (12.8)				
Female	35.9 (12.0)	46.7 (13.0)				

Table 13: Physical Component Summary (PCS) score and the Mental ComponentSummary (MCS) score (unadjusted) for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). The HOS health status measures are the physical component summary (PCS) score and the mental component summary (MCS) score. These scores are calculated from the VR-12 (Questions 1-7 in the 2015 HOS 3.0) which asks respondents about their usual activities and how they would rate their health.

Table 14: Self-rated general health for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Race	Excellent to Good n (%)	Fair or Poor n (%)
HOS Total	498,200 (67.0%)	245,363 (33.0%)
Male	214,622 (67.8%)	101,784 (32.2%)
Female	283,578 (66.4%)	143,579 (33.6%)
Hispanic	43,455 (49.8%)	43,730 (50.2%)
Male	19,900 (52.5%)	18,002 (47.5%)
Female	23,555 (47.8%)	25,728 (52.2%)
Cuban	2,761 (57.5%)	2,044 (42.5%)
Male	1,384 (60.8%)	893 (39.2%)
Female	1,377 (54.5%)	1,151 (45.5%)
Puerto Rican	11,834 (44.2%)	14,921 (55.8%)
Male	5,676 (47.8%)	6,188 (52.2%)
Female	6,158 (41.4%)	8,733 (58.6%)
Mexican	13,733 (51.2%)	13,099 (48.8%)
Male	6,324 (52.3%)	5,767 (47.7%)
Female	7,409 (50.3%)	7,332 (49.7%)
/ulti-ethnic	2,748 (46.4%)	3,176 (53.6%)
Male	1,216 (49.0%)	1,266 (51.0%)
Female	1,532 (44.5%)	1,910 (55.5%)
Other Hispanic	12,379 (54.1%)	10,490 (45.9%)
Male	5,300 (57.7%)	3,888 (42.3%)
Female	7,079 (51.7%)	6,602 (48.3%)

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Race	Much Better to About the Same n (%)	Slightly Worse or Much Worse n (%)	
HOS Total	519,524 (71.0%)	212,062 (29.0%)	
Male	223,104 (71.8%)	87,799 (28.2%)	
Female	296,420 (70.5%)	124,263 (29.5%)	
lispanic	60,421 (69.0%)	27,088 (31.0%)	
Male	27,077 (71.2%)	10,949 (28.8%)	
Female	33,344 (67.4%)	16,139 (32.6%)	
Cuban	3,484 (72.5%)	1,324 (27.5%)	
Male	1,731 (75.8%)	553 (24.2%)	
Female	1,753 (69.5%)	771 (30.5%)	
Puerto Rican	18,522 (69.0%)	8,327 (31.0%)	
Male	8,509 (71.4%)	3,408 (28.6%)	
Female	10,013 (67.1%)	4,919 (32.9%)	
Mexican	18,570 (68.8%)	8,412 (31.2%)	
Male	8,532 (70.4%)	3,594 (29.6%)	
Female	10,038 (67.6%)	4,818 (32.4%)	
Multi-ethnic	3,881 (66.0%)	2,000 (34.0%)	
Male	1,694 (68.8%)	770 (31.3%)	
Female	2,187 (64.0%)	1,230 (36.0%)	
Other Hispanic	15,964 (69.4%)	7,025 (30.6%)	
Male	6,611 (71.6%)	2,624 (28.4%)	
Female	9,353 (68.0%)	4,401 (32.0%)	

Table 15: Physical health compared to one year ago for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Race	Much Better to About the Same n (%)	Slightly Worse or Much Worse n (%)	
HOS Total	604,427 (83.9%)	116,277 (16.1%)	
Male	260,076 (84.7%)	47,121 (15.3%)	
Female	344,351 (83.3%)	69,156 (16.7%)	
Hispanic	68,373 (79.0%)	18,219 (21.0%)	
Male	29,989 (79.6%)	7,702 (20.4%)	
Female	38,384 (78.5%)	10,517 (21.5%)	
Cuban	3,851 (81.2%)	893 (18.8%)	
Male	1,872 (83.1%)	380 (16.9%)	
Female	1,979 (79.4%)	513 (20.6%)	
Puerto Rican	20,637 (77.8%)	5,887 (22.2%)	
Male	9,227 (78.3%)	2,561 (21.7%)	
Female	11,410 (77.4%)	3,326 (22.6%)	
Mexican	21,314 (79.7%)	5,445 (20.3%)	
Male	9,622 (79.9%)	2,423 (20.1%)	
Female	11,692 (79.5%)	3,022 (20.5%)	
/ulti-ethnic	4,469 (77.2%)	1,321 (22.8%)	
Male	1,886 (77.4%)	550 (22.6%)	
Female	2,583 (77.0%)	771 (23.0%)	
Other Hispanic	18,102 (79.5%)	4,673 (20.5%)	
Male	7,382 (80.5%)	1,788 (19.5%)	
Female	10,720 (78.8%)	2,885 (21.2%)	

Table 16: Mental health compared to one year ago for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Race	Not at all to Somewhat n (%)	Quite a bit or Very much n (%)
HOS Total	562,197 (78.4%)	154,568 (21.6%)
Male	245,943 (80.8%)	58,615 (19.2%)
Female	316,254 (76.7%)	95,953 (23.3%)
Hispanic	59,692 (69.0%)	26,760 (31.0%)
Male	27,161 (72.3%)	10,384 (27.7%)
Female	32,531 (66.5%)	16,376 (33.5%)
Cuban	3,577 (75.7%)	1,149 (24.3%)
Male	1,811 (80.6%)	437 (19.4%)
Female	1,766 (71.3%)	712 (28.7%)
Puerto Rican	16,502 (62.6%)	9,847 (37.4%)
Male	7,790 (66.5%)	3,917 (33.5%)
Female	8,712 (59.5%)	5,930 (40.5%)
Mexican	19,447 (72.6%)	7,330 (27.4%)
Male	8,981 (74.7%)	3,036 (25.3%)
Female	10,466 (70.9%)	4,294 (29.1%)
Multi-ethnic	3,918 (66.6%)	1,969 (33.4%)
Male	1,710 (69.4%)	753 (30.6%)
Female	2,208 (64.5%)	1,216 (35.5%)
Other Hispanic	16,248 (71.5%)	6,465 (28.5%)
Male	6,869 (75.4%)	2,241 (24.6%)
Female	9,379 (68.9%)	4,224 (31.1%)

Table 17: Pain interfering with daily activities for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Table 18: Positive depress	sion screen for Hispan	ic groups ¹ by gender
----------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------------

Race	Positive Depression Screen n (%)	Negative Depression Screen n (%)
HOS Total	123,594 (17.8%)	572,641 (82.2%)
Male Female	50,163 (16.9%) 73,431 (18.4%)	246,695 (83.1%) 325,946 (81.6%)
lispanic Male	23,832 (28.6%)	59,593 (71.4%) 26,246 (72,5%)
Female	<u> </u>	<u>26,346 (72.5%)</u> 33,247 (70.6%)
Cuban	1,155 (25.2%)	3,426 (74.8%)
Male	462 (21.1%)	1,727 (78.9%)
Female	693 (29.0%)	1,699 (71.0%)
uerto Rican	8,370 (32.8%)	17,178 (67.2%)
Male	3,621 (31.9%)	7,729 (68.1%)
Female	4,749 (33.4%)	9,449 (66.6%)
lexican	6,769 (26.4%)	18,918 (73.6%)
Male	2,996 (25.9%)	8,569 (74.1%)
Female	3,773 (26.7%)	10.349 (73.3%)
ulti-ethnic	1,941 (34.9%)	3,626 (65.1%)
Male	802 (34.1%)	1,547 (65.9%)
Female	1,139 (35.4%)	2,079 (64.6%)
ther Hispanic	5,597 (25.4%)	16,445 (74.6%)
Male	2,125 (23.9%)	6,774 (76.1%)
Female	3,472 (26.4%)	9,671 (73.6%)

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. A positive depression screen is defined as scoring 3 points or greater on the sum total of the two depression questions.

Race	Not at all n (%)	Several days n (%)	More than half the days n (%)	Nearly every day n (%)
HOS Total	486,028 (68.7%)	132,249 (18.7%)	48,078 (6.8%)	40,946 (5.8%)
Male	214,886 (71.4%)	50,827 (16.9%)	19,292 (6.4%)	16,051 (5.3%)
Female	271,142 (66.7%)	81,422 (20.0%)	28,786 (7.1%)	24,895 (6.1%)
lispanic	46,934 (55.1%)	20,218 (23.7%)	9,066 (10.6%)	9,028 (10.6%)
Male	21,359 (57.6%)	8,163 (22.0%)	3,767 (10.2%)	3,787 (10.2%)
Female	25,575 (53.1%)	12,055 (25.0%)	5,299 (11.0%)	5,241 (10.9%)
Cuban	2,741 (58.5%)	1,037 (22.1%)	405 (8.6%)	504 (10.8%)
Male	1,433 (64.1%)	446 (20.0%)	153 (6.8%)	202 (9.0%)
Female	1,308 (53.3%)	591 (24.1%)	252 (10.3%)	302 (12.3%)
Puerto Rican	12,446 (47.7%)	7,122 (27.3%)	3,109 (11.9%)	3,404 (13.1%)
Male	5,875 (50.8%)	2,877 (24.9%)	1,357 (11.7%)	1,464 (12.7%)
Female	6,571 (45.3%)	4,245 (29.3%)	1,752 (12.1%)	1,940 (13.4%)
Mexican	15,556 (59.1%)	5,741 (21.8%)	2,669 (10.1%)	2,345 (8.9%)
Male	7,224 (61.0%)	2,428 (20.5%)	1,138 (9.6%)	1,046 (8.8%)
Female	8,332 (57.6%)	3,313 (22.9%)	1,531 (10.6%)	1,299 (9.0%)
/lulti-ethnic	3,008 (52.2%)	1,362 (23.6%)	625 (10.8%)	769 (13.3%)
Male	1,299 (53.6%)	535 (22.1%)	279 (11.5%)	309 (12.8%)
Female	1,709 (51.1%)	827 (24.7%)	346 (10.4%)	460 (13.8%)
Other Hispanic	13,183 (58.8%)	4,956 (22.1%)	2,258 (10.1%)	2,006 (9.0%)
Male	5,528 (61.3%)	1,877 (20.8%)	840 (9.3%)	766 (8.5%)
Female	7,655 (57.2%)	3,079 (23.0%)	1,418 (10.6%)	1,240 (9.3%)

Table 19: Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless in past two weeks (depression screen) for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Race	Not at all n (%)	Several days n (%)	More than half the days n (%)	Nearly every day n (%)
HOS Total	443,396 (62.7%)	139,348 (19.7%)	64,334 (9.1%)	60,373 (8.5%)
Male	193,756 (64.3%)	56,012 (18.6%)	26,582 (8.8%)	24,756 (8.2%)
Female	249,640 (61.4%)	83,336 (20.5%)	37,752 (9.3%)	35,617 (8.8%)
lispanic	41,128 (48.1%)	21,297 (24.9%)	11,135 (13.0%)	11,997 (14.0%)
Male	18,948 (50.9%)	8,482 (22.8%)	4,706 (12.6%)	5,083 (13.7%)
Female	22,180 (45.9%)	12,815 (26.5%)	6,429 (13.3%)	6,914 (14.3%)
Cuban	2,496 (53.3%)	1,101 (23.5%)	474 (10.1%)	615 (13.1%)
Male	1,327 (59.4%)	465 (20.8%)	196 (8.8%)	246 (11.0%)
Female	1,169 (47.7%)	636 (25.9%)	278 (11.3%)	369 (15.0%)
Puerto Rican	10,463 (39.8%)	7,833 (29.8%)	3,624 (13.8%)	4,373 (16.6%)
Male	5,064 (43.4%)	3,101 (26.6%)	1,621 (13.9%)	1,885 (16.2%)
Female	5,399 (36.9%)	4,732 (32.4%)	2,003 (13.7%)	2,488 (17.0%)
lexican	13,861 (52.7%)	5,725 (21.8%)	3,451 (13.1%)	3,273 (12.4%)
Male	6,412 (54.2%)	2,415 (20.4%)	1,528 (12.9%)	1,471 (12.4%)
Female	7,449 (51.4%)	3,310 (22.9%)	1,923 (13.3%)	1,802 (12.4%)
Iulti-ethnic	2,489 (43.5%)	1,378 (24.1%)	761 (13.3%)	1,096 (19.1%)
Male	1,118 (46.4%)	531 (22.0%)	302 (12.5%)	459 (19.0%)
Female	1,371 (41.4%)	847 (25.6%)	459 (13.9%)	637 (19.2%)
Other Hispanic	11,819 (52.4%)	5,260 (23.3%)	2,825 (12.5%)	2,640 (11.7%)
Male	5,027 (55.4%)	1,970 (21.7%)	1,059 (11.7%)	1,022 (11.3%)
Female	6,792 (50.4%)	3,290 (24.4%)	1,766 (13.1%)	1,618 (12.0%)

Table 20: Little interest or pleasure in	doing things in past two weeks (depression screen)
for Hispanic groups ¹ by gender	

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Table 21: Pain i	interfering with	socializing for	Hispanic groups	s ¹ by gender
14010 210 1 4111 1		500000000000000000000000000000000000000	B- op	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~

Race	Never to Sometimes n (%)	Often or Always n (%)	
HOS Total	621,040 (86.8%)	94,150 (13.2%)	
Male	269,061 (88.5%)	34,879 (11.5%)	
Female	351,979 (85.6%)	59,271 (14.4%)	
Hispanic	66,968 (77.6%)	19,289 (22.4%)	
Male	29,891 (79.7%)	7,607 (20.3%)	
Female	37,077 (76.0%)	11,682 (24.0%)	
Cuban	3,871 (82.2%)	839 (17.8%)	
Male	1,930 (85.9%)	317 (14.1%)	
Female	1,941 (78.8%)	522 (21.2%)	
Puerto Rican	18,969 (72.2%)	7,316 (27.8%)	
Male	8,691 (74.4%)	2,994 (25.6%)	
Female	10,278 (70.4%)	4,322 (29.6%)	
Mexican	21,589 (80.8%)	5,115 (19.2%)	
Male	9,854 (82.2%)	2,139 (17.8%)	
Female	11,735 (79.8%)	2,976 (20.2%)	
/ulti-ethnic	4,431 (75.7%)	1,426 (24.3%)	
Male	1,921 (78.3%)	532 (21.7%)	
Female	2,510 (73.7%)	894 (26.3%)	
Other Hispanic	18,108 (79.8%)	4,593 (20.2%)	
Male	7,495 (82.2%)	1,625 (17.8%)	
Female	10,613 (78.1%)	2,968 (21.9%)	

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

				P~~/ 8		
	Arthritis - Hip or	Arthritis - Hand				
Hypertension	Knee	or Wrist	Diabetes	Sciatica	Osteoporosis	Depression
n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
			203,748 (28.3%)	187,873 (26.3%)	140,240 (19.7%)	
200,921 (65.6%)	111,840 (36.7%)	91,125 (29.9%)	92,705 (30.3%)	74,476 (24.5%)	19,427 (6.4%)	64,464 (21.2%)
276,892 (66.7%)	203,404 (49.4%)	171,229 (41.7%)	111,043 (26.8%)	113,397 (27.7%)	120,813 (29.5%)	117,398 (28.5%)
59,792 (68.4%)	42,990 (49.5%)	36,835 (42.5%)	34,124 (39.1%)	28,556 (33.1%)	21,898 (25.4%)	30,659 (35.3%)
25,552 (67.4%)	15,351 (40.7%)	13,037 (34.6%)	15,291 (40.3%)	11,607 (30.9%)	3,680 (9.8%)	11,920 (31.6%)
34,240 (69.1%)	27,639 (56.3%)	23,798 (48.7%)			18,218 (37.4%)	
3,396 (70.5%)	2,438 (51.0%)	1,933 (40.5%)	1,474 (30.6%)	1,640 (34.4%)	1,155 (24.3%)	1,610 (33.8%)
1,595 (70.1%)	952 (41.9%)	753 (33.3%)	757 (33.2%)	695 (30.8%)	181 (8.0%)	604 (26.7%)
1,801 (70.9%)	1,486 (59.1%)	1,180 (47.1%)	717 (28.2%)	945 (37.8%)	974 (39.0%)	1,006 (40.2%)
18,751 (69.9%)	14,103 (53.0%)	12,197 (46.0%)	10,922 (40.8%)	9,952 (37.8%)	7,969 (30.2%)	11,087 (41.7%)
8,147 (68.6%)	5,047 (42.8%)	4,415 (37.5%)	5,011 (42.2%)	4,122 (35.2%)	1,461 (12.4%)	4,567 (38.7%)
10,604 (71.0%)	9,056 (61.1%)	7,782 (52.9%)	5,911 (39.7%)	5,830 (39.9%)	6,508 (44.3%)	6,520 (44.1%)
18,431 (68.4%)	12,419 (46.4%)	10,703 (40.0%)	11,244 (41.8%)	7,626 (28.6%)	5,788 (21.7%)	8,491 (31.7%)
8,133 (67.3%)	4,688 (38.9%)	3,935 (32.7%)	5,135 (42.4%)	3,286 (27.4%)	1,020 (8.5%)	3,331 (27.7%)
10,298 (69.3%)	7,731 (52.5%)	6,768 (46.1%)	6,109 (41.2%)	4,340 (29.7%)	4,768 (32.6%)	5,160 (35.0%)
3,935 (66.4%)	2,894 (49.1%)	2,494 (42.5%)	2,389 (40.3%)	1,955 (33.4%)	1,446 (24.7%)	2,364 (40.0%)
1,631 (65.8%)	1,014 (41.1%)	849 (34.5%)			244 (9.9%)	901 (36.4%)
2,304 (66.9%)	1,880 (54.9%)	1,645 (48.2%)	1,368 (39.7%)	1,167 (34.3%)	1,202 (35.4%)	1,463 (42.6%)
15,279 (66.5%)	11,136 (48.9%)	9,508 (41.8%)	8,095 (35.4%)	7,383 (32.5%)	5,540 (24.4%)	7,107 (31.2%)
		, , , ,	3,367 (36.6%)	2,716 (29.8%)	774 (8.5%)	2,517 (27.5%)
9,233 (67.1%)	7,486 (55.0%)	6,423 (47.3%)	4,728 (34.5%)	4,667 (34.4%)	4,766 (35.2%)	4,590 (33.7%)
	n (%) 477,813 (66.2%) 200,921 (65.6%) 276,892 (66.7%) 59,792 (68.4%) 25,552 (67.4%) 34,240 (69.1%) 3,396 (70.5%) 1,595 (70.1%) 1,801 (70.9%) 18,751 (69.9%) 8,147 (68.6%) 10,604 (71.0%) 18,431 (68.4%) 8,133 (67.3%) 10,298 (69.3%) 3,935 (66.4%) 1,631 (65.8%) 2,304 (66.9%) 15,279 (66.5%) 6,046 (65.7%)	Hypertension n (%)Knee n (%)477,813 (66.2%)315,244 (44.0%)200,921 (65.6%)111,840 (36.7%)276,892 (66.7%)203,404 (49.4%)59,792 (68.4%)42,990 (49.5%)25,552 (67.4%)15,351 (40.7%)34,240 (69.1%)27,639 (56.3%)3,396 (70.5%)2,438 (51.0%)1,595 (70.1%)952 (41.9%)1,801 (70.9%)1,486 (59.1%)18,751 (69.9%)14,103 (53.0%)8,147 (68.6%)5,047 (42.8%)10,604 (71.0%)9,056 (61.1%)18,431 (68.4%)12,419 (46.4%)8,133 (67.3%)4,688 (38.9%)10,298 (69.3%)7,731 (52.5%)3,935 (66.4%)2,894 (49.1%)1,631 (65.8%)1,014 (41.1%)2,304 (66.9%)1,880 (54.9%)15,279 (66.5%)11,136 (48.9%)6,046 (65.7%)3,650 (39.8%)	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	n (%)n (%)n (%)477,813 (66.2%) $315,244$ (44.0%) $262,354$ (36.7%) $203,748$ (28.3%)200,921 (65.6%)111,840 (36.7%) $91,125$ (29.9%) $92,705$ (30.3%)276,892 (66.7%) $203,404$ (49.4%)171,229 (41.7%)111,043 (26.8%)59,792 (68.4%) $42,990$ (49.5%) $36,835$ (42.5%) $34,124$ (39.1%)25,552 (67.4%)15,351 (40.7%)13,037 (34.6%)15,291 (40.3%)34,240 (69.1%)27,639 (56.3%)23,798 (48.7%)18,833 (38.1%)3,396 (70.5%)2,438 (51.0%)1,933 (40.5%)1,474 (30.6%)1,595 (70.1%)952 (41.9%)753 (33.3%)757 (33.2%)1,801 (70.9%)1,486 (59.1%)1,180 (47.1%)717 (28.2%)18,751 (69.9%)14,103 (53.0%)12,197 (46.0%)10,922 (40.8%)8,147 (68.6%)5,047 (42.8%)4,415 (37.5%)5,011 (42.2%)10,604 (71.0%)9,056 (61.1%)7,782 (52.9%)5,911 (39.7%)18,431 (68.4%)12,419 (46.4%)10,703 (40.0%)11,244 (41.8%)8,133 (67.3%)4,688 (38.9%)3,935 (32.7%)5,135 (42.4%)10,298 (69.3%)7,731 (52.5%)6,768 (46.1%)6,109 (41.2%)3,935 (66.4%)2,894 (49.1%)2,494 (42.5%)2,389 (40.3%)1,631 (65.8%)1,014 (41.1%)849 (34.5%)1,021 (41.1%)2,304 (66.9%)1,880 (54.9%)1,645 (48.2%)1,368 (39.7%)15,279 (66.5%)11,136 (48.9%)9,508 (41.8%)8,095 (35.4%)6,046 (65.7%)3,650 (39.8%)3,085 (33.7%)3,367 (36.6%) </td <td>$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$</td> <td>$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$</td>	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Table 22: Top seven chronic conditions for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Race	No conditions n (%)	One condition n (%)	Two or three conditions n (%)	Four or more conditions n (%)
HOS Total	58,762 (8.1%)	107,958 (14.8%)	249,448 (34.2%)	312,527 (42.9%)
Male	30,058 (9.7%)	51,848 (16.8%)	108,664 (35.1%)	118,642 (38.4%)
Female	28,704 (6.8%)	56,110 (13.4%)	140,784 (33.6%)	193,885 (46.2%)
Hispanic	6,274 (7.1%)	11,327 (12.8%)	26,949 (30.4%)	44,118 (49.8%)
Male	3,556 (9.2%)	5,887 (15.3%)	12,321 (32.0%)	16,704 (43.4%)
Female	2,718 (5.4%)	5,440 (10.8%)	14,628 (29.1%)	27,414 (54.6%)
Cuban	312 (6.4%)	637 (13.0%)	1,560 (31.9%)	2,376 (48.6%)
Male	183 (7.9%)	360 (15.6%)	797 (34.5%)	973 (42.1%)
Female	129 (5.0%)	277 (10.8%)	763 (29.7%)	1,403 (54.5%)
Puerto Rican	1,609 (5.9%)	2,942 (10.8%)	7,476 (27.4%)	15,225 (55.9%)
Male	960 (7.9%)	1,642 (13.6%)	3,589 (29.7%)	5,885 (48.7%)
Female	649 (4.3%)	1,300 (8.6%)	3,887 (25.6%)	9,340 (61.5%)
Mexican	2,116 (7.8%)	3,821 (14.0%)	8,824 (32.3%)	12,536 (45.9%)
Male	1,212 (9.9%)	1,990 (16.2%)	4,154 (33.9%)	4,901 (40.0%)
Female	904 (6.0%)	1,831 (12.2%)	4,670 (31.1%)	7,635 (50.8%)
Aulti-ethnic	415 (6.9%)	732 (12.2%)	1,715 (28.6%)	3,141 (52.3%)
Male	232 (9.2%)	355 (14.1%)	748 (29.8%)	1,174 (46.8%)
Female	183 (5.2%)	377 (10.8%)	967 (27.7%)	1,967 (56.3%)
Other Hispanic	1,822 (7.8%)	3,195 (13.8%)	7,374 (31.7%)	10,840 (46.7%)
Male	969 (10.4%)	1,540 (16.5%)	3,033 (32.6%)	3,771 (40.5%)
Female	853 (6.1%)	1,655 (11.9%)	4,341 (31.2%)	7,069 (50.8%)

Table 23: Number of chronic conditions for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. Total for "yes" responses reported for each chronic condition. Number of chronic conditions based on 15 measures collected by the HOS.

Race	None n (%)	1-13 Unhealthy Days n (%)	14-30 Unhealthy Days n (%)
HOS Total	443,903 (63.7%)	115,147 (16.5%)	138,184 (19.8%)
Male	194,688 (65.4%)	46,485 (15.6%)	56,374 (18.9%)
Female	249,215 (62.4%)	68,662 (17.2%)	81,810 (20.5%)
Hispanic	44,495 (54.2%)	14,621 (17.8%)	22,983 (28.0%)
Male	19,955 (55.7%)	6,103 (17.0%)	9,763 (27.3%)
Female	24,540 (53.0%)	8,518 (18.4%)	13,220 (28.6%)
Cuban	2,814 (61.9%)	661 (14.5%)	1,071 (23.6%)
Male	1,410 (64.8%)	320 (14.7%)	446 (20.5%)
Female	1,404 (59.2%)	341 (14.4%)	625 (26.4%)
Puerto Rican	12,446 (50.0%)	4,417 (17.7%)	8,040 (32.3%)
Male	5,777 (52.1%)	1,850 (16.7%)	3,466 (31.2%)
Female	6,669 (48.3%)	2,567 (18.6%)	4,574 (33.1%)
Mexican	14,442 (56.7%)	4,472 (17.6%)	6,535 (25.7%)
Male	6,593 (57.5%)	1,937 (16.9%)	2,939 (25.6%)
Female	7,849 (56.1%)	2,535 (18.1%)	3,596 (25.7%)
/ulti-ethnic	2,528 (47.4%)	1,065 (20.0%)	1,744 (32.7%)
Male	1,076 (47.8%)	432 (19.2%)	742 (33.0%)
Female	1,452 (47.0%)	633 (20.5%)	1,002 (32.5%)
Other Hispanic	12,265 (56.1%)	4,006 (18.3%)	5,593 (25.6%)
Male	5,099 (57.7%)	1,564 (17.7%)	2,170 (24.6%)
Female	7,166 (55.0%)	2,442 (18.7%)	3,423 (26.3%)

Table 24: Days with activity limitations during the past 30 days for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Race	None n (%)	1-13 Unhealthy Days n (%)	14-30 Unhealthy Days n (%)
HOS Total	340,788 (49.0%)	174,850 (25.1%)	179,737 (25.8%)
Male	154,384 (52.0%)	70,019 (23.6%)	72,530 (24.4%)
Female	186,404 (46.8%)	104,831 (26.3%)	107,207 (26.9%)
Hispanic	32,964 (40.1%)	20,536 (25.0%)	28,781 (35.0%)
Male	15,522 (43.2%)	8,533 (23.8%)	11,852 (33.0%)
Female	17,442 (37.6%)	12,003 (25.9%)	16,929 (36.5%)
Cuban	2,064 (45.5%)	1,088 (24.0%)	1,388 (30.6%)
Male	1,088 (50.1%)	506 (23.3%)	576 (26.5%)
Female	976 (41.2%)	582 (24.6%)	812 (34.3%)
Puerto Rican	8,847 (35.2%)	6,136 (24.4%)	10,118 (40.3%)
Male	4,397 (39.4%)	2,593 (23.2%)	4,178 (37.4%)
Female	4,450 (31.9%)	3,543 (25.4%)	5,940 (42.6%)
Mexican	11,026 (43.5%)	6,257 (24.7%)	8,088 (31.9%)
Male	5,192 (45.3%)	2,691 (23.5%)	3,568 (31.2%)
Female	5,834 (41.9%)	3,566 (25.6%)	4,520 (32.5%)
Multi-ethnic	1,806 (33.7%)	1,463 (27.3%)	2,087 (39.0%)
Male	815 (36.1%)	598 (26.5%)	846 (37.5%)
Female	991 (32.0%)	865 (27.9%)	1,241 (40.1%)
Other Hispanic	9,221 (42.1%)	5,592 (25.5%)	7,100 (32.4%)
Male	4,030 (45.5%)	2,145 (24.2%)	2,684 (30.3%)
Female	5,191 (39.8%)	3,447 (26.4%)	4,416 (33.8%)

Table 25: Physically unhealthy days during the past 30 days for Hispanic groups¹ by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

Table 20. Wentany unicating days during the past 50 days for mispane groups by gender					
	None	1-13 Unhealthy Days	14-30 Unhealthy Days		
Race	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
HOS Total	427,906 (61.3%)	150,235 (21.5%)	119,620 (17.1%)		
Male	194,434 (65.4%)	56,224 (18.9%)	46,714 (15.7%)		
Female	233,472 (58.3%)	94,011 (23.5%)	72,906 (18.2%)		
Hispanic	43,900 (53.3%)	17,249 (20.9%)	21,265 (25.8%)		
Male	20,016 (55.8%)	6,894 (19.2%)	8,987 (25.0%)		
Female	23,884 (51.3%)	10,355 (22.3%)	12,278 (26.4%)		
Cuban	2,672 (59.1%)	790 (17.5%)	1,062 (23.5%)		
Male	1,390 (64.4%)	344 (15.9%)	423 (19.6%)		
Female	1,282 (54.2%)	446 (18.8%)	639 (27.0%)		
Puerto Rican	12,651 (50.3%)	4,971 (19.8%)	7,515 (29.9%)		
Male	5,908 (52.9%)	2,031 (18.2%)	3,226 (28.9%)		
Female	6,743 (48.3%)	2,940 (21.0%)	4,289 (30.7%)		
Mexican	14,112 (55.5%)	5,426 (21.3%)	5,910 (23.2%)		
Male	6,557 (57.1%)	2,233 (19.5%)	2,684 (23.4%)		
Female	7,555 (54.1%)	3,193 (22.8%)	3,226 (23.1%)		
Multi-ethnic	2,490 (46.4%)	1,334 (24.9%)	1,540 (28.7%)		
Male	1,096 (48.2%)	529 (23.3%)	647 (28.5%)		
Female	1,394 (45.1%)	805 (26.0%)	893 (28.9%)		
Other Hispanic	11,975 (54.6%)	4,728 (21.5%)	5,238 (23.9%)		
Male	5,065 (57.4%)	1,757 (19.9%)	2,007 (22.7%)		
Female	6,910 (52.7%)	2,971 (22.7%)	3,231 (24.6%)		

					1
Table 26. Montally	r unhoolthu dou	a duwing the r	naat 20 dawa far	. Hignania guaung	¹ hy gondon
Table 26: Mentally	/ иппеаних оах	s auring the i	DASE DU GAVS IOI	• півраніє угоцря	by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent. ¹ Total includes all Hispanic beneficiaries who returned a baseline survey and had a physical component summary (PCS) score and/or mental component summary (MCS) score. Beneficiaries who responded in multiple cohorts are counted in the first cohort in which they appear for all table analyses.

Race	Underweight (<18.50) n (%)	Normal (18.50-24.99) n (%)	Overweight (25-29.99) n (%)	Obese (>=30) n (%)
HOS Total	14,319 (2.1%)	195,059 (28.3%)	249,302 (36.2%)	230,357 (33.4%)
Male	4,010 (1.4%)	74,583 (25.3%)	124,379 (42.2%)	91,954 (31.2%)
Female	10,309 (2.6%)	120,476 (30.6%)	124,923 (31.7%)	138,403 (35.1%)
lispanic	1,423 (1.7%)	20,178 (24.5%)	31,729 (38.5%)	29,147 (35.3%)
Male	506 (1.4%)	8,378 (23.2%)	15,683 (43.4%)	11,529 (31.9%)
Female	917 (2.0%)	11,800 (25.4%)	16,046 (34.6%)	17,618 (38.0%)
Cuban	67 (1.5%)	1,223 (26.8%)	1,858 (40.7%)	1,413 (31.0%)
Male	22 (1.0%)	534 (24.7%)	988 (45.7%)	617 (28.6%)
Female	45 (1.9%)	689 (28.7%)	870 (36.3%)	796 (33.2%)
Puerto Rican	489 (1.9%)	6,563 (25.5%)	10,234 (39.7%)	8,494 (32.9%)
Male	179 (1.6%)	2,848 (24.8%)	5,067 (44.1%)	3,393 (29.5%)
Female	310 (2.2%)	3,715 (26.0%)	5,167 (36.2%)	5,101 (35.7%)
<i>M</i> exican	401 (1.6%)	5,291 (21.1%)	9,367 (37.4%)	9,959 (39.8%)
Male	156 (1.4%)	2,260 (19.9%)	4,854 (42.7%)	4,098 (36.0%)
Female	245 (1.8%)	3,031 (22.2%)	4,513 (33.1%)	5,861 (42.9%)
/ulti-ethnic	99 (1.8%)	1,329 (23.8%)	1,983 (35.6%)	2,164 (38.8%)
Male	27 (1.1%)	538 (22.7%)	960 (40.5%)	847 (35.7%)
Female	72 (2.2%)	791 (24.7%)	1,023 (31.9%)	1,317 (41.1%)
Other Hispanic	367 (1.7%)	5,772 (26.8%)	8,287 (38.5%)	7,117 (33.0%)
Male	122 (1.4%)	2,198 (25.2%)	3,814 (43.8%)	2,574 (29.6%)
Female	245 (1.9%)	3,574 (27.8%)	4,473 (34.9%)	4,543 (35.4%)

Table 27: BMI¹ categories for Hispanic groups² by gender

Note: HOS Baseline Cohorts 16, 17, and 18 (n=756,253). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

¹ BMI is calculated as: BMI = [weight in pounds / (height in inches)²] x 703, which uses the height and weight to produce the standard measure of kg/m² units.

	Less than 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	7 – 8 hours	9 or more hours
Race	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
HOS Total	22,798 (10.4%)	82,874 (37.9%)	98,974 (45.2%)	14,216 (6.5%)
Male	9,281 (10.0%)	34,216 (36.8%)	43,413 (46.6%)	6,186 (6.6%)
Female	13,517 (10.7%)	48,658 (38.7%)	55,561 (44.2%)	8,030 (6.4%)
lispanic	4,125 (15.1%)	11,018 (40.5%)	10,363 (38.0%)	1,731 (6.4%)
Male	1,654 (14.1%)	4,625 (39.5%)	4,625 (39.5%)	817 (7.0%)
Female	2,471 (15.9%)	6,393 (41.2%)	5,738 (37.0%)	914 (5.9%)
Cuban	172 (12.3%)	564 (40.2%)	567 (40.4%)	99 (7.1%)
Male	52 (8.0%)	266 (41.0%)	283 (43.6%)	48 (7.4%)
Female	120 (15.9%)	298 (39.6%)	284 (37.7%)	51 (6.8%)
Puerto Rican	1,570 (18.4%)	3,689 (43.1%)	2,825 (33.0%)	468 (5.5%)
Male	649 (17.2%)	1,554 (41.2%)	1,332 (35.3%)	239 (6.3%)
Female	921 (19.3%)	2,135 (44.7%)	1,493 (31.2%)	229 (4.8%)
lexican	993 (12.1%)	3,054 (37.2%)	3,535 (43.1%)	619 (7.5%)
Male	425 (11.6%)	1,334 (36.3%)	1,602 (43.6%)	312 (8.5%)
Female	568 (12.5%)	1,720 (38.0%)	1,933 (42.7%)	307 (6.8%)
/ulti-ethnic	353 (15.9%)	898 (40.4%)	821 (36.9%)	153 (6.9%)
Male	142 (14.9%)	374 (39.2%)	377 (39.6%)	60 (6.3%)
Female	211 (16.6%)	524 (41.2%)	444 (34.9%)	93 (7.3%)
Other Hispanic	1,037 (15.1%)	2,813 (41.0%)	2,615 (38.1%)	392 (5.7%)
Male	386 (14.4%)	1,097 (41.1%)	1,031 (38.6%)	158 (5.9%)
Female	651 (15.6%)	1,716 (41.0%)	1,584 (37.8%)	234 (5.6%)

Table 28: Sleep hours for Hispanic groups¹ by gender, HOS *Baseline Cohort 18*

Note: HOS Baseline Cohort 18 (n=256,735). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

1 abic 27. Sicep qu	anty for mispanic grou	ps by genuer, nos busenne Conort 18			
Race	Very good	Fairly good	Fairly bad	Very bad	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
HOS Total	52,656 (24.0%)	122,581 (55.8%)	33,758 (15.4%)	10,602 (4.8%)	
Male	23,008 (24.7%)	52,357 (56.2%)	13,695 (14.7%)	4,159 (4.5%)	
Female	29,648 (23.5%)	70,224 (55.6%)	20,063 (15.9%)	6,443 (5.1%)	
Hispanic	1,415 (20.9%)	4,048 (59.7%)	1,056 (15.6%)	<u> </u>	
Male	660 (20.9%)	1,930 (61.1%)	462 (14.6%)		
Female	755 (20.8%)	2,118 (58.4%)	594 (16.4%)		
Cuban	6,418 (23.6%)	13,987 (51.3%)	4,872 (17.9%)	1,975 (7.2%)	
Male	3,043 (26.0%)	5,929 (50.6%)	1,967 (16.8%)	780 (6.7%)	
Female	3,375 (21.7%)	8,058 (51.9%)	2,905 (18.7%)	1,195 (7.7%)	
Puerto Rican	367 (26.3%)	709 (50.8%)	234 (16.8%)	86 (6.2%)	
Male	172 (26.9%)	349 (54.6%)	94 (14.7%)	24 (3.8%)	
Female	195 (25.8%)	360 (47.6%)	140 (18.5%)	62 (8.2%)	
Mexican Male Formela	1,920 (22.5%) 973 (25.9%)	4,272 (50.1%) 1,832 (48.7%)	1,640 (19.2%) 673 (17.9%)	<u>692 (8.1%)</u> 285 (7.6%)	
Female	947 (19.9%)	2,440 (51.2%)	967 (20.3%)	407 (8.5%)	
Multi-ethnic	2,027 (24.6%)	4,339 (52.7%)	1,342 (16.3%)	525 (6.4%)	
Male	989 (26.8%)	1,911 (51.7%)	577 (15.6%)	220 (6.0%)	
Female	1,038 (22.9%)	2,428 (53.5%)	765 (16.9%)	<u>305 (6.7%)</u>	
Other Hispanic	523 (23.6%)	1,068 (48.2%)	427 (19.3%)	200 (9.0%)	
Male	235 (24.8%)	468 (49.5%)	159 (16.8%)	<u>84 (8.9%)</u>	
Female	288 (22.6%)	600 (47.2%)	268 (21.1%)	116 (9.1%)	

Table 29: Sleep quality for Hispanic groups¹ by gender, HOS *Baseline Cohort 18*

Note: HOS Baseline Cohort 18 (n=256,735). Due to rounding sum of cells may not equal 100 percent.

References

- ² The Hispanic Population: 2010. 2010 Census Briefs. United States Census Bureau. Available at: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2011/dec/c2010br-04.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³ Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060. Current Population Reports. United States Census Bureau. Available at: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/ Census/library/publications/2015/demo/p25-1143.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴ Income and Poverty in the United States: 2016. Current Population Reports. United States Census Bureau. Available at: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2017/demo/ P60-259.pdf. Accessed on: December 14, 2018
- ⁵ Income and Poverty in the United States: 2015. Current Population Reports. United Sates Census Bureau. Available at: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/demo/ p60-256.pdf. Accessed on: December 14, 2018.
- ⁶ Selected Population Profile in the United States. 2015 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates. S0201. American Fact Finder. United States Census Bureau. Available at: https://factfinder.census.gov /faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_15_1YR_S0201&prodType=table. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁷ Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2015. Current Population Reports. United States Census Bureau. Available at: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/ 2016/demo/p60-257.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁸ National Vital Statistics Reports. Deaths: Leading Causes for 2014. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr65/nvsr65_05.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁹ Case A, Deaton A. Rising morbidity and mortality in midlife among white non-Hispanic Americans in the 21st century. Proceedings from the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. Available at: http://www.pnas.org/content/112/49/15078.full . Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹⁰ Exploring the Paradox of U.S. Hispanics' Long Life Expectancy. Population Reference Bureau. Available at: http://www.prb.org/Publications/Articles/2013/us-hispanics-life-expectancy.aspx. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹¹ Singh GK, Miller BA. "Health, Life Expectancy, and Mortality Patterns Among Immigrant Populations in the United States." *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. 95, no. 3 (2004). Available at: http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/viewFile/506/506. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹² Lee S, O'Neill AH, Ihara ES, Chae DH. "Change in Self-Reported Health Status among Immigrants in the United States: Associations with Measures of Acculturation." *PLoS One*.8, no. 10 (2013). Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3788132/. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹³ Shi, Leiyu, Lydie A. Lebrun and Jenna Tsai. "The Influence of English Proficiency on Access to Care." *Ethnicity & Health.* 14, no. 6 (2009): 625-642. Available at: http://www.jhsph.edu/research/ centers-and-institutes/johns-hopkins-primary-care-policy-center/Publications_PDFs/2009%20EH.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.

¹ Hispanic Heritage Month 2017. Facts for Features. United States Census Bureau. Available at: https://www.census.gov/newsroom/facts-for-features/2017/hispanic-heritage.html. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.

- ¹⁴ Flores, G. "Language Barriers to Health Care in the United States." *The New England Journal of Medicine*. 355 (2006):229-231. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMp058316.
- ¹⁵ Martin LT, Ruder T, Escarce JJ, Ghosh-Dastidar B, Sherman D, Elliott M, Bird CE, Fremont A, Gasper C, Culbert A, and Lurie N. "Developing Predictive Models of Health Literacy." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. (2009):1211-6. DOI: 10.1007*ls*11606-009-1105-7.
- ¹⁶ Haffer SC and Bowen SE. Measuring and Improving Health Outcomes in Medicare: The Medicare HOS Program. *Health Care Financing Review*. Summer 2004. Volume 25(4): 1-3. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Research/HealthCareFinancingReview /Downloads/04summerpg1.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020. Available at: https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/foundation-health-measures/General-Health-Status. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹⁸ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020. Available at: https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/foundation-health-measures/Health-Related-Quality-of-Life-and-Well-Being. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ¹⁹ Ware JE, Kosinski M, and Keller SD. SF-36 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales: A User's Manual. Boston, MA: The Health Institute; 1994.
- ²⁰ Bailis DS, Segall A, and Chipperfield JG. Two views of self-rated general health status. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2003; 56:203-217.
- ²¹ Health Services Advisory Group. Medicare Health Outcomes Survey: The Evaluation of a Mental Component Summary Score Threshold for Depression Risk in the Medicare Population. 2006. Available at: http://hosonline.org/globalassets/hos-online/publications/hos_evaluation_mcs_ depress.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ²² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Depression is Not a Normal Part of Growing Older. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/aging/mentalhealth/depression.htm. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ²³ Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, Clouse RE, Lustman PJ. The prevalence of comorbid depression in adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*. 2001; 24:1069-1078.
- ²⁴ Hitchcock PH, Williams JW, Unutzer J, Worchel J, Lee S, Cornell J, Katon W, Harpole LH, Hunkeler E. Depression and comorbid illness in elderly primary care patients: impact on multiple domains of health status and well-being. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2004; 2(6):555-562.
- ²⁵ Administration for Community Living. Older Americans Behavioral Health. Issue Brief 5: Prescription Medication Misuse and Abuse Among Older Adults. Available at: https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/programs/2016-11/Issue%20Brief%205%20Prescription%20Med%20Misuse%20Abuse.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ²⁶ Colliver JD, Compton WM, Gfroerer JC, Condon T. Projecting Drug Use Among Aging Baby Boomers in 2020. *Annals of Epidemiology*. 2006; 16(4):257-265.
- ²⁷ Bogunovic O. Substance Abuse in Aging and Elderly Adults. July 12, 2012. Available at: http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/geriatric-psychiatry/substance-abuse-aging-and-elderly-adults. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ²⁸ The Joint Commission. Pain Management. Available at: www.jointcommission.org/topics/pain_management.aspx. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.

- ²⁹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Multiple Chronic Conditions: A Strategic Framework. Optimum Health and Quality of Life for Individuals with Multiple Chronic Conditions. Available at: www.hhs.gov/ash/initiatives/mcc/mcc_framework.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³⁰ Thorpe KE, Ogden LL, Galactionova K. Chronic conditions account for rise in Medicare spending from 1987 to 2006. *Health Affairs*. 2010; 29(4):1–7.
- ³¹ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The Challenge of Managing Multiple Chronic Conditions. Available at: www.hhs.gov/ash/initiatives/mcc/article.html. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³² Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Chronic Conditions among Medicare Beneficiaries, Chartbook, 2012 Edition. Baltimore, MD. 2012. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/research-statisticsdata-and-systems/statistics-trends-and-reports/chronic-conditions/downloads/2012chartbook.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³³ Wiener JM, Hanely RJ, Clark R. *Measuring the Activities of Daily Living: Comparisons Across National Surveys*. 1990. Available at: http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/meacmpes.htm. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³⁴ Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Physical Self-maintenance*. 1969.
- ³⁵ Graf C. The Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) Scale. *Try This: Best Practices in Nursing Care to Older Adults*. 2013; 23. The Hartford Institute for Geriatric Nursing, New York University, College of Nursing. Available at: https://consultgeri.org/try-this/general-assessment/ issue-23.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³⁶ Walter LC, Brand RJ, Counsell SR, Palmer RM, Landefeld CS, Fortinsky RH, Covinsky KE. Development and Validation of a Prognostic Index for 1-Year Mortality in Older Adults After Hospitalization *JAMA*. 2001; 285(23):2987-2994.
- ³⁷ Newcomer R, Covinsky KE, Clay T, Yaffe K. Predicting 12-month mortality for persons with dementia. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*. 2003 May; 58(3):S187-98.
- ³⁸ Choi E, Tang F, Kim S, Turk P. Longitudinal Relationships Between Productive Activities and Functional Health in Later Years: A Multivariate Latent Growth Curve Modeling Approach. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*. 2016; 83(4) Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0091415016657557. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ³⁹ Briesacher B, Stuart B, Doshi J, Kamal-Bahl S, Shea D. Medicare's Disabled Beneficiaries: The Forgotten Population in the Debate Over Drug Benefits. 2002, Kaiser Family Foundation. Available at: https://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/medicare-s-disabled-beneficiaries-theforgotten-population-in-the-debate-over-drug-benefits-report.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴⁰ Fuller-Thomson E, Chi M. Older Hispanic Americans and Pacific Islanders with Activities of Daily Living (ADL) Limitations: Immigration and Other Factors Associated with Institutionalization. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2012;9(9):3264-3279. doi:10.3390/ijerph9093264.
- ⁴¹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL) Concepts. Available at: www.cdc.gov/hrqol/concept.htm. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Measuring Healthy Days: Population Assessment of Health-Related Quality of Life*. November 2000. Available at: www.cdc.gov/hrqol/pdfs/mhd.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.

- ⁴³ The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL). Available at: www.cdc.gov/hrqol/faqs.htm. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Overweight and Obesity*. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/index.html. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴⁵ Valdes AM, Andrew T, Gardner JP, Kimura M, Oelsner E, Cherkas LF, Aviv A, Spector TD. Obesity, cigarette smoking, and telomere length in women. *The Lancet*. 2005; 366(9486):662-664. Available at: www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140673605666305/abstract. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. About Adult BMI. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/index.html. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁴⁷ Miller SL, Wolfe RR. The danger of weight loss in the elderly. *J Nutr Health Aging*. Aug-Sep 2008; 12(7):487-491.
- ⁴⁸ Backhaus J, Junghanns K, Broocks A, Riemann D, Hohagen F. Test-retest reliability and validity of the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index in primary insomnia. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*. 2002; 53(3):737-40.
- ⁴⁹ Gangwisch JE, Malaspina D, Boden-Albala B, Heymsfield SB. Inadequate sleep as a risk factor for obesity: analyses of the NHANES I. *Sleep*. 2005; 28(10):1289-96.
- ⁵⁰ Gangwisch JE, Malaspina D, Boden-Albala B, Heymsfield SB. Inadequate sleep as a risk factor for obesity: analyses of the NHANES I. Sleep. 2005; 28(10):1289-96.
- ⁵¹ Lauderdale DS, Knutson KL, Yan LL, Liu K, Rathouz PJ. Sleep duration: how well do self-reports reflect objective measures? The CARDIA Sleep Study. *Epidemiology*. 2008; 19(6):838–845.
- ⁵² HEDIS[®] is a registered trademark of the National Committee for Quality Assurance.
- ⁵³ National Committee for Quality Assurance. *HEDIS[®] 2015, Volume 6: Specifications for the Medicare Health Outcomes Survey.* Washington, DC: NCQA Publication, 2015. Available at: http://www.hosonline.org/globalassets/hos-online/publications/hos_hedis_volume6_2015.pdf. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁵⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. NCHHSTP Social Determinants of Health: Frequently Asked Questions. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/socialdeterminants/faq.html. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁵⁵ Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex and gender differences in health: Science & Society Series on Sex and Science. *EMBO Reports*. 2012;13(7):596-603. doi:10.1038/embor.2012.87.
- ⁵⁶ Salganicoff A, Ranji U, Beamesderfer A, Kurani N. Kaiser Family Foundation. Women and Health Care in the Early Years of the ACA: Key Findings from the 2013 Kaiser Women's Health Survey. Available at: https://www.kff.org/womens-health-policy/report/women-and-health-care-in-the-earlyyears-of-the-aca-key-findings-from-the-2013-kaiser-womens-health-survey/. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁵⁷ Kaiser Family Foundation. Distribution of Medicare Beneficiaries by Gender 2015. Available at: http://kff.org/medicare/state-indicator/medicare-beneficiaries-by-gender/. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.
- ⁵⁸ Kaiser Family Foundation. Median Income Among Medicare Beneficiaries, Overall and by Race/ Ethnicity, Age, and Gender, 2012. Available at: http://kff.org/medicare/slide/median-income-amongmedicare-beneficiaries-overall-and-by-raceethnicity-age-gender-2012/. Accessed on: December 11, 2018.

- ⁵⁹ Cameron KA, Song J, Manheim LM, Dunlop DD. Gender Disparities in Health and Healthcare Use Among Older Adults. *Journal of Women's Health*. 2010;19(9):1643-1650. doi:10.1089/jwh.2009.1701.
- ⁶⁰ Kaiser Family Foundation. Medicare's Role for Older Women. May 2013. Available at: http://kff.org/womens-health-policy/fact-sheet/medicares-role-for-older-women/. Accessed on December 11, 2018.